
Annual Report 2006

Lincoln U
niversity A

nnual R
eport 2006	

Te W
hare W

äna¯ ka o A
ora¯ ki

www.lincoln.ac.nz

Vice-Chancellor
PO	Box	94
Lincoln	University
Lincoln	7647
New	Zealand

Telephone	+64	3	325	2811



Contents

Lincoln University – An Introduction 1
Chancellor’s Greeting 2
Vice-Chancellor’s Overview 3
Highlights 2006 4
University Governance 8

Statement of Service Performance
Teaching	and	Learning	Excellence	 10
Research	Excellence	 12
Community	and	Industry	Engagement	 13
Student	Experience	and	Support	 14
Mäori	Aspirations	 16
Pacific	Peoples’	Aspirations	 17
Internationalisation	 18
Management	and	Stewardship	 19
	
Equity of Opportunity in Education  
and Employment 
Access	to	Education	 24
Educational	and	Pastoral	Support	 25
Equal	Employment	Opportunity	 25
	

Group Financial Statements
Statement	of	Responsibility	 27
Financial	Statements	 28
Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	 31
Statement	of	Accounting	Policies	 41
Auditor’s	Report	 44

Quick Reference Facts and Figures
Enrolled	Students	 47
Equivalent	Full-Time	Students	(EFTS)	 47
Qualification	Completions	 47
Research	Activity	 48
Staffing	 48
Financial	Performance	and	Position	 48

ISSN 1170-8964
May 2007



Lincoln University 
– An Introduction
Lincoln University is a specialised university. It offers 
interdisciplinary qualifications and undertakes research 
and development spanning agriculture, the physical and 
biological sciences, commerce and the environment, 
including social dimensions. Its unique character is 
grounded in strong community links, an interdisciplinary 
approach to scholarship and a focus on research that is 
directly relevant to national growth objectives.

The University is governed by its Council, which appoints 
the Vice-Chancellor as Chief Executive Officer. The Academic 
Board provides advice to Council on academic matters.

Teaching and learning, research and community  
engagement are conducted by staff and students 
organised within four academic divisions: Agriculture  
and Life Sciences; Bio-Protection and Ecology; Commerce; 
and Environment, Society and Design. The Foundation 
Studies and English Language Centre provides foundation 
programmes to prepare students for further study within 
the University. In 2006 the largest academic programmes 
were bachelor degrees in commerce and management, 
agriculture and agricultural science, valuation and property 
management, landscape architecture, science, recreation 
management, viticulture and oenology, environmental 
management and tourism management.

Research activity is described by eight ‘themes’ reflecting 
Lincoln University’s specialist competencies: agricultural 
and primary production; applied computing (information 
technology); biological and physical sciences; business 
and economics; environmental design and management; 
food, wine and health; Mäori development; and society and 
culture. The University has several research centres to lead 
New Zealand and international research in specialist areas. 
These include: the Agribusiness and Economics Research 
Unit, the Centre for Advanced Computational Solutions, 
the Centre for Environmental Toxicology, the Centre for Soil 
and Environmental Quality, the Centre for Viticulture and 
Oenology, the Isaac Centre for Nature Conservation and 
the Tourism Recreation Research and Education Centre. In 
addition, the University is the host partner for the National 
Centre for Advanced Bio-Protection Technologies. 

Lincoln University operates two wholly-owned subsidiary 
companies: Lincoln Ventures Limited, a research and 
development company and Lincoln Hospitality Limited, 
which provides accommodation, catering, recreation and 
conference services to the University and commercial 
clients.
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Chancellor’s Greeting

Imminent changes to the tertiary sector being signalled 
by the Government resulted in strategic planning being a 
clear focus for the year. Lincoln University has taken up 
the challenge to emphasise the unique and distinctive 
contribution it makes to the tertiary sector and New 
Zealand society as a whole. The following paragraph from 
the University’s Profile summarises Lincoln University’s 
future, which is based on the core values of the past:

“Lincoln University is a specialised, research-led university 
focused on providing the best learning and research 
opportunities for New Zealanders and for people from 
around the world. Lincoln University is recognised for 
its applied and interdisciplinary approach to teaching 
and research in agriculture, the physical and biological 
sciences, commerce and the environment, including social 
dimensions. Lincoln University has a unique contribution 
to make and accepts responsibilities for the creation and 
application of knowledge in areas that are vital to the 
sustainable development of New Zealand.”

The University had an eventful year finalising the Profile 
2007-2009, a review of academic delivery, the Library and 
IT upgrades, an external academic audit and the Centre 
of Research Excellence funding re-bid. It has been a year 
centred on improving the student learning environment 
and having the confidence to invest in our future. 

Graduation is always a highlight of the year, with 746 
students receiving degrees, diplomas and certificates at a 
colourful ceremony at the Christchurch Town Hall in 2006.

Vice-Chancellor Professor Roger Field’s leadership of the 
University was of the highest standard. Skillfully supported 
by the senior management team, the Vice-Chancellor 
provided a solid base to resolve today’s issues and to plan 
for the future. My thanks to the dedication of all the staff 

at Lincoln who make it such an attractive, rewarding and 
knowledge-based successful institution.

I was pleased to welcome Karena Brown and Martin  
Clements to the Lincoln University Council. Respectively 
with trade union policy development and horticulture 
backgrounds they bring a new range of governance 
experience to the Council table. Two of our most experienced 
Council members Ian Donald and Dr Bob Wynn-Williams 
retired at the end of 2006. Their governance contribution 
was significant and their expertise helped Lincoln reach 
the successful position it is in today.

Strong leadership at governance and management level 
and the outstanding contribution from all those involved at 
Lincoln ensures that the University is well-placed to meet 
the challenges of the future and enhance its reputation 
as an institution highly relevant to New Zealand society  
as a whole.

Tom C. Lambie
Chancellor

2006 has been both a challenging and rewarding year for Lincoln 

University. One of the highlights of the year was the growth in 

domestic student enrolment.  It has also been a year that will 

help define the future direction of the University. 
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Vice-Chancellor’s Overview

In 2006 the University implemented projects to enhance 
significantly the unique Lincoln University experience for 
students, and focused on strengthening its collaborative 
partnerships with organisations in New Zealand and 
internationally. Forming close connections with industry 
and research organisations enables the University to focus 
on high quality applied research to provide answers to real 
life problems. It also forms the basis for providing relevant 
undergraduate degrees that meet the needs of students 
and employers. 

Research investments in New Zealand are made in a highly 
competitive market. As a result of excellent performance 
by Lincoln University researchers, research funding for 
the University has grown significantly in recent years 
and remained high in 2006. Indeed, Lincoln University 
has attracted higher levels of research investment than 
other universities in New Zealand many times its size. The 
confidence that research funding organisations have in the 
quality and value of Lincoln University’s contributions is 
demonstrated across all four academic divisions. 

Anticipating and providing for the diverse and changing 
needs of students was a priority in 2006. The most significant 
project in this regard was the redevelopment of the George 
Forbes Memorial Library in Ivey Hall. The development 
has transformed Ivey Hall into an outstanding study and 
research environment with the very latest resources and 
technology available to users. 

The past year has seen a major re-invigoration of alumni 
events and growth in the activities and events of the Lincoln 
University Alumni Association. The alumni events reinforce 
for me the extent of the contributions to science, commerce 
and the natural environment the University’s graduates 
make around the globe. They also reinforce the importance 
of preparing university students for life in the real world 

and of ensuring that universities provide not only specialist 
discipline-based knowledge but generic, transferable skills 
to enable graduates to adapt and be pragmatic in meeting 
their professional and personal challenges. 

Among many other highlights during the year, some of which 
are noted later in this Annual Report, were the historic signing 
of a Charter of Understanding with Te Taumutu Rünanga, the 
very encouraging commendations received through the report 
from the independent New Zealand Universities Academic 
Audit Unit (available at www.aau.ac.nz) and welcoming the 
first cohort of Future Leaders scholars to the University. 
 
There were a number of notable retirements in 2006, 
including Neil Gow who has lectured in farm management 
and agribusiness for over 40 years and Dr John Adams for a 
similar period in soil science.

My thanks are extended to the members of the Lincoln 
University Council, and to Chancellor Tom Lambie, for their 
commitment and support throughout 2006. The University 
is well served by the experience and skill with which 
Council members approach their governance role. Equally 
important, I would like to thank the University’s staff and 
managers for their contributions during 2006. The collective 
and individual achievements of 2006 have strengthened 
Lincoln University’s ability to support its students, pursue 
excellence in teaching, learning and research, and have 
ensured a positive future position for the University. 

Professor Roger J. Field
Vice-Chancellor

It is my pleasure to present to you this Annual Report for 2006.  

The Annual Report demonstrates Lincoln University’s high level 

of achievement across its many endeavours.  Lincoln University 

has consolidated a strong position in recent years and continues 

to offer research and learning opportunities that are as relevant 

globally as they are nationally and locally.
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Academic Audit
An academic audit of Lincoln University, conducted 
by the New Zealand Universities Academic Audit 
Unit, found a strong fit between teaching aims and 
learning outcomes and a clear commitment to the 
University’s goals. The review also highlighted a 
strong relationship between teaching and support 
staff, and high quality teaching and learning 
resources within the University. The report made 
commendations across the University, reflecting 
the high calibre of staff and a commitment to strong 
academic outcomes and employment opportunities 
for students. 

The audit report also commended the senior 
management team for the manner in which the 
University’s vision, environment for teaching and 
learning, and relationships with external stakeholders 
have been set, communicated and implemented. In 
addition, the report commended the strengthening 
relationship with Ngäi Tahu. 
 

Charter of Understanding 
with Te Taumutu Rünanga
Education, research, cultural input, participation 
in decision-making and attention to the health and 
life of Te Waihora / Lake Ellesmere are the primary 
components of the Charter of Understanding signed 
at a formal ceremony in June between Lincoln 
University and Te Taumutu Rünanga. Te Taumutu is 
a papatipu rünanga of South Island iwi Ngäi Tahu; 
Lincoln University is located within the Rünanga’s 
rohe. The Charter formalises a long-standing informal 
relationship between the people of Taumutu and 
Lincoln University. At the signing ceremony, the 
University thanked the Rünanga for its vision and 
commitment to strengthening the relationship,  
and acknowledged particularly the late Cath Brown 
and Riki Ellison. The restoration and protection of the 
mauri (life essence) of Te Waihora / Lake Ellesmere is 
a significant objective within the Charter and Lincoln 
University’s expertise in the management of natural 
resources is something the University will be bringing 
to the relationship with the Rünanga. 

Library Redevelopment
Stage two of the Ivey Hall redevelopment commenced 
in November 2006, and is due for completion early 
in 2007. The stage two renovations complete the 

upgrade of the George Forbes Memorial Library 
that commenced in summer 2005/2006 and have 
created the ‘iZone’ information commons, two 
teaching laboratories and a new student PC suite. 
Additional desk study space and group study rooms 
were also created. The redevelopment provided an 
additional 115 student computers within the Library, 
wireless network access throughout the building 
and desks for using personal laptops on every floor. 
The completion of the redevelopment will see a new 
student social space established on the ground floor. 
The redevelopment was a significant project for the 
University and has resulted in students gaining 
access to research and technology resources that are 
at the forefront of New Zealand library facilities.

Graduation
Five hundred and eighty graduands received awards 
in person, the highest number of awards presented 
since 2000. In all, 746 graduands had degrees 
conferred, diplomas and certificates presented 
during the April ceremony. Among those capped was 
the University’s youngest ever honours graduate, 18-
year-old Ray Hidayat of Christchurch. Overall, 23% 
of awards were for postgraduate study, including 
29 doctorates – the greatest number of doctorates 
awarded in one year in Lincoln University’s history. 

University Honours
The achivements of former Minister of Research, 
Science and Technology, founding member of the 
United New Zealand Party and former Chancellor of  
Lincoln University, the Hon. Margaret Austin 
of Christchurch, and Timaru businessman and  
benefactor Allan Hubbard, were recognised by the 
University at the April graduation ceremenony.  
Mrs Austin received an honorary Doctor of Science 
degree in recognition of her lifetime of dedication  
to education and commitment to science. Mr 
Hubbard, who received an honorary Doctor of 
Commerce degree, has practised as a chartered 
accountant in Timaru, South Canterbury, for over 
50 years. Lincoln University’s prestigious Bledisloe 
Medal was presented to prominent New Zealand 
businessman and former All Black captain Sir 
Wilson Whineray. The International Alumni Medal 
for outstanding services by a Lincoln University 
alumnus outside New Zealand was awarded to Dr 
Murray Dawson, Emeritus Professor of Soil Science 
at Oregon State University. 
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Building an  
Enterprise Culture
In March the Minister for Tertiary Education announced 
the award of $2.4 million from the Tertiary Education 
Commission’s Growth and Innovation Pilot Initiatives 
programme for a joint Lincoln University/University 
of Canterbury project called “Building a University 
Enterprise Culture”. The funding enables the 
universities to bring in private sector biotechnology 
science entrepreneurs to interact with students and 
researchers, enhance courses to prepare students for 
the commercial world and to appoint entrepreneurial 
research experts to help identify commercial potential 
in research projects. 

National Bank Young Farmer 
of the Year
Lincoln University graduate John McCaw won the 
prestigious Young Farmer of the Year Contest for 
2006. Third and fourth placegetters, Elliot Scott and 
Richard Fowler respectively, are also graduates. 
As a major sponsor of the event, Lincoln University 
awarded study scholarships to a number of entrants. 
The scholarhips are a way of helping those who will 
lead and contribute to the leadership of farming and 
agriculture in the future. 

Science Outreach
A new Science Outreach Programme for secondary 
schools began in 2006. The programme brings both 
teachers and pupils from high schools throughout 
Canterbury to the Lincoln University campus to take 
part in practical activities to complement work in the 
classroom. Workshops were developed for NCEA 
topics including biodiversity, genetic variation, human 
impact on biodiversity and a DNA laboratory exercise. 
 

Food and Agribusiness 
Marketing Experience
A new initiative in 2006 was the introduction of the 
Food and Agribusiness Marketing Experience (FAME). 
This programme took twenty agribusiness leaders 
from New Zealand to North America, Europe, China 
and Japan in two separate trips during the year. The 
FAME programme is supported by the Agricultural 
and Marketing Research and Development Trust 
(AGMARDT) and is a joint venture between Lincoln 
University, Massey University and the University of 
Otago. The programme attracted considerable interest 
from the agribusiness sector and will play a major role 
in future collaboration with industry sectors.

External Research Funding
The amount of external research funding generated 
by the University remained high. A total of $13 million 
was received by the University in 2006, building on the 
$13 million received in 2005 and $12 million in 2004. 
Average earnings per academic staff member were 
$59,000, one of the highest ratios of any non-medical 
New Zealand university. The high level of funding  
demonstrates not only the level of connectedness 
the University has with external stakeholders 
but also the relevance and valuable nature of the 
research undertaken. A significant proportion of the 
funding was received in conjunction with the National 
Centre for Advanced Bio-Protection Technologies, a 
collaborative Centre of Research Excellence hosted 
by Lincoln University. Other significant grants not 
mentioned elsewhere were:  an international team 
of researchers led by Dr David Palmer was awarded 
US$705,000, by the United States’ National Institute 
of Health, to continue research into Batten disease, 
a currently incurable childhood degenerative brain 
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condition; the renewed Toxoplasma contract with 
AnCare ($870,OOO for 15 months); award from the 
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry’s Sustainable 
Farming Funding of $1.3 million over three years; 
nine Technology Industry Fellowships were awarded 
totalling $795,000 over three years; and Lincoln 
University was part of a successful New Zealand 
consortium for $714,000 over two years from the 
European Commission Framework Programme for a 
“Farm to Fork” food project.

Lincoln Ventures Limited
Lincoln Ventures Limited, the University’s research 
and development company, has developed a 
biosensor instrument to measure toxicity of effluent 
streams, which has the potential for worldwide use.  
As a result, part of the company’s focus has shifted 
to researching the development of fuel cells that 
utilise dilute waste streams for the direct generation 
of electricity. The current research on ground water 
modelling saw the completion of several prototypes 
during the year.  This research is a major contribution 
to understanding the ongoing issues relating to 
ground water management and related irrigation 
use.  In other research, image analysis capability has 
been applied to sports analysis software, including 
“Feedback Football” and “FielderView”.  The latter 
featured on New Zealand television for cricket 
matches screened in December 2006.  

Professors Appointed
Soil scientist Dr Leo Condron, plant ecologist Dr 
Richard Duncan and environmental management 
scientist Dr Ken Hughey, all formerly associate 
professors, were appointed to personal chairs in 
their respective discipline areas. 

Excellence in  
Teaching Awards
Excellence in teaching awards were presented this 
year to Professor of Economics Paul Dalziel and Senior 
Lecturer in Applied Computing Dr Clare Churcher, 
who were selected from a field of strong nominees 
on the basis of their outstanding commitment to the 
education and development of their students. 

Staff Achievements
Notable achievements during 2006 included:
– Associate Professor Geoffrey Savage, an authority 

on the health benefits of antioxidants in food, 
was recognised with an appointment as Visiting 
Professor at the Swedish University of Agricultural 
Sciences (SLU). The appointment came as a result 
of collaborative research connections with the 
Department of Food Science at SLU over the past 
10 years.

– Plant scientist and Lincoln University Council 
member Dr Warwick Scott was appointed an 
Honorary Scientist with South Korea’s Rural 
Development Administration, a government 
organisation responsible for agricultural research 
and extension throughout the republic. Dr Scott 
was appointed for three years to assist with 
the enhancement of agricultural science and 
technology in South Korea.

– Professor of Tourism, David Simmons visited 
North Korea as a United Nations/World Trade 
Organisation consultant. Professor Simmons’ 
work involved advising on how the republic’s 
tourism industry could be improved to provide 
economic and social benefits.

– Professor of Ecology, Steve Wratten’s services 
to agro-ecology were recognised with an 
honorary doctorate from the Royal Veterinary and 
Agricultural University (KVL) in Denmark. 

– Professor of Plant Pathology, Alison Stewart and 
Professor of Seed Technology, John Hampton were 
elected as Fellows of the Institute of Agricultural 
and Horticultural Science.

– Dr Graeme Robertson, Chief Executive Officer 
of Lincoln University technology development 
company Lincoln Ventures Limited, was made a 
member of a select group of Distinguished Fellows 
of the Institution of Professional Engineers of New 
Zealand (IPENZ). 
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University Governance

Composition of the Lincoln 
University Council

Tom Lambie, Chancellor, Appointed by the Council
Roger Field, Vice-Chancellor
Kay Barker, Elected by the General Staff
Karena Brown, Appointed by Council in 
Consultation with the Council of Trade Unions 
John Chetwin, Appointed by the Council
Martin Clements, Ministerial Appointment  
(from April 2006)
Donald Couch, Pro-Chancellor, Te Rünanga  
o Ngäi Tahu
Ian Donald, Appointed by the Council
Brian Gargiulo, Ministerial Appointment
Anthony Hall, Appointed by the Council
Ivy Harper, Student Appointment
David Haslam, Elected by the Court of Convocation
Sheelagh Matear, Assistant Vice-Chancellor 
(Academic), Chair Academic Board
Edward Rogers, Appointed by Council in 
Consultation with the Employers’ Federation
Paul Rutherford, LUSA President,  
Student Appointment
Warwick Scott, Elected by the Academic Staff
Prudence Taylor, Ministerial Appointment
Christine Williams, Ministerial Appointment
Robert Wynn-Williams, Elected by the Court  
of Convocation
Grantley Judge, Council Secretary

Composition of the Senior 
Management Group

Roger Field, Chair, Vice-Chancellor
John Clark, Finance Director
Chris Kirk, Deputy Vice-Chancellor
Sheelagh Matear, Assistant Vice-
Chancellor (Academic)
Hirini Matunga, Assistant Vice-Chancellor (Mäori)
Kiri McAlister, Human Resources Director
Tony Zwart, Assistant Vice-Chancellor  
(Business Development)

Lincoln University  
Holdings Board

Gary Leech, Chair
Roger Field 
Edward Rogers
Ken Stokes
Robert Wynn-Williams

Lincoln University Council
Back left to right:  Sheelagh Matear, Anthony Hall, Warwick Scott, Christine Williams.
Middle left to right: Grantley Judge, Ivy Harper, Paul Rutherford, Kay Barker, Karena Brown, Edward Rogers, Prudence Taylor. 
Front left to right:  Robert Wynn-Williams, Martin Clements, Donald Couch, Roger Field, Tom Lambie, Ian Donald, John Chetwin, David Haslam.
Absent: Brian Gargiulo. 
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Strategic Objective 1
Teaching and Learning Excellence
To provide highly relevant research-informed 
qualifications of recognised quality.

1. To increase student enrolments.
A managed increase in student recruitment 
remained a priority throughout the year. The focus of 
recruitment activity at the undergraduate level was 
shifted towards direct engagement with secondary 
schools. Consequently, additional staff and resources 
were placed within the School Liaison team, including 
the establishment of a permanent liaison office in 
Auckland. A ‘science outreach’ programme was also 
implemented successfully – a continuing programme 
that enables interaction between Lincoln University 
staff and secondary school students within a science 
context. Total enrolments for the year were lower 
than forecast, owing primarily to a sharper downturn 
in the international student market than expected. 
In contrast, total domestic enrolments showed 
growth overall. Specifically, good growth was seen 
in agriculture, commerce and science programmes. A 
significant increase in international PhD enrolments 
was also seen, reflecting the change to government 
funding policy for these students and a greater 
focus on postgraduate recruitment in international 
marketing activity. (Refer also to Operational 
Objectives 5, 12-14, 15, 18 and 20.)  

2. To encourage, recognise and support excellence  
in teaching.
Lincoln University’s commitment to excellent 
teaching is based on its student-centred approach. 
Specific activity to encourage, recognise and support 
excellent teaching included formal and informal 
mentoring of staff, professional development 
workshops and seminars organised by Teaching 
and Learning Services and the annual Teaching 
Excellence Awards. In addition, six staff progressed 
study towards formal tertiary teaching qualifications 
during the year, ranging from certificate to doctorate 
level, with most electing for postgraduate certificates 
or diplomas. The Teaching and Learning Services 
Professional Development Workshop Series included 
sessions on teaching and learning across cultures, 
good assessment practice, ethics and others. A total 
of 292 attendances were recorded at these voluntary 
workshops. The annual awards for excellence in 
teaching were presented to Dr Clare Churcher, 

Senior Lecturer in Applied Computing and Professor 
of Economics, Paul Dalziel. The scheduled audit of 
teaching and learning conducted by the New Zealand 
Universities Academic Audit Unit was an important 
component of academic quality activity during 2006. 
This wide-ranging assessment of University practices 
and outcomes resulted in the University receiving 
strong commendations from the external audit panel 
and helpful recommendations for improvement in 
some areas. Particularly encouraging was the panel’s 
commendation of the “high level of commitment 
and loyalty” of the University’s staff. The audit 
report, a public document, is available from the New 
Zealand Universities Academic Audit Unit website  
(www.aau.ac.nz).

3. To develop the University’s academic 
programmes to ensure they are aligned to research, 
employment and student educational needs.
The Bachelor of Software and Information Technology 
degree was introduced in 2006 as a result of a review 
of the Bachelor of Applied Computing programme the 
year prior. The programme was revised and renamed 
to more closely align with employer requirements 
and student expectations. Programme evaluation 
work was also undertaken in regards to the Bachelor 
of Science, Farm Management and Agribusiness, the 
Bachelor of Recreation Management, the Bachelor of 
Social Science and others. Professional accreditation 
was renewed for accounting programmes through the 
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants and 
landscape architecture by the New Zealand Institute 
of Landscape Architects. The accounting programme 
also gained Australian CPA (certified practising 
accounting) accreditation. A comprehensive review 
of academic delivery across the University was a 
significant undertaking during the year. Led by the 
Vice-Chancellor, the review required significant 
engagement by staff and addressed issues including 
staff workload, flexibility of delivery, programme 
positioning and the cost of delivery in relation to levels 
of enrolment. As a result of the review, the Bachelor of 
Mäori Planning and Development and the Bachelor of 
Commerce (Forestry) programmes were closed to new 
enrolments with a view to being withdrawn as existing 
students complete their studies. Other changes 
included the consolidation of the four Bachelor of 
Recreation Management specialisations under one 
overall programme and a reduction in the number of 
multiple deliveries of courses (subjects) in any one 
year. Responsibility for the management and delivery 
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of Regional Education was moved to Divisions and 
the Regional Education office was disestablished as a 
separate management unit. The strategy for Regional 
Education was refined to promote closer interaction 
with secondary schools. Further assessment and 
implementation work resulting from this large-scale 
review will continue in 2007. 

4. To promote academic excellence, inspire lifelong 
learning and stimulate personal development.
Activity towards meeting this objective was continual 
and systemic rather than based around specific 
initiatives or projects. Responses to the annual 
Graduate Feedback Survey can be used to show the 
University’s progress towards meeting this objective. 
The Graduate Feedback Survey is undertaken each 
year and asks graduates to rate the quality of various 

aspects of their University experience. Respondents 
rate their level of agreement or disagreement with 
statements in the survey, which are then placed into 
one of several groups for analysis, known as ‘scales’. 
The scales are then used to measure the University’s 
performance across areas of interest. Three scales 
are particularly relevant for assessing achievement 
against this objective:  the ‘intellectual motivation 
scale’, the ‘generic skills scale’ and ‘overall 
satisfaction’. The 2006 survey registered 97% broad 
agreement within the intellectual motivation scale, 
96% broad agreement within the generic skills 
scale and 98% broad agreement as regards overall 
satisfaction. These results were consistent with those 
of previous years, with the high satisfaction levels for 
the ‘intellectual motivation scale’ being particularly 
relevant to this objective.

Associated Performance Indicators �00�
Forecast

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

End
Notes

Enrolments – Head Count
- Postgraduate programmes
- Undergraduate programmes
- Sub-degree programmes
- Entry Level programmes

590
2,770

365
345

650
2,854

322
169

564
3,037

305
362

634
2,982

343
852

635
2,600

324
556

- Total 4,070 3,995 4,268 4,811 4,115

Enrolments – EFTS (equivalent full-time student)
- Postgraduate programmes
- Undergraduate programmes
- Sub-degree programmes
- Entry Level programmes
- Informal programmes

406
2,314

289
174
36

406
2,299

241
119
29

383
2,553

247
181
32

487
2,462

288
380

32

476
2,136

251
489

30

- Total 3,219 3,094 3,396 3,649 3,382

Enrolments – EFTS (equivalent full-time student)
- Domestic
- International

1,771
1,448

1,726
1,368

1,693
1,703

1,778
1,871

1,803
1,579

Qualification completions
- Postgraduate
- Undergraduate
- Sub-degree
- Entry Level

> 160
> 550
> 40
> 100

254
682
169
46

217
614
128
89

200
582

48
237

202
538

44
353

- Total > 850 1,151 1,048 1,067 1,137

Lecturer Evaluations - proportion of student responses 
evaluating lecturers as ‘Excellent’ or ‘Good’

> 85% 81% 81% 81% 83%

Undergraduate Student Satisfaction Survey –  
proportion of students expressing ‘broad 
satisfaction’ with teaching and learning

> 85% triennial 
survey

triennial 
survey

89% triennial 
survey

1

Graduate Feedback Survey – proportion 
of students expressing ‘broad agreement’ 
with the Good Teaching scale 

> 85% 95% 91% 91% 83%

Graduate Progression to Employment > 85% 88% 84% 85% 88%
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Strategic Objective 2
Research Excellence
To foster knowledge creation, knowledge 
transfer and innovation through research 
and research-based teaching.

5. To increase postgraduate student enrolments 
and enhance support for postgraduate students.
Good postgraduate enrolment growth was 
experienced in 2006, with total enrolments increasing 
by 15% on a per student basis and by 5% on an EFTS 
basis. The growth was due mainly to an increase in 
international PhD student enrolments. Initiatives 
to increase postgraduate enrolments and support 
included the annual Lincoln University Postgraduate 
conference in partnership with the Lincoln University 
Students’ Association, improvements to postgraduate 
office spaces and research facilities as part of the 
capital works and maintenance programmes, and the 
progressive implementation of recommendations 
from the ‘Minimum Service Provision for Postgraduate 
Students’ review. This last initiative was the result 
of a University-wide project to standardise levels 
of support for postgraduates across the University, 
taking into consideration that the needs of students 
will vary across disciplinary areas. Also making an 
important contribution to meeting this objective was 
a series of ‘best practice in postgraduate supervision’ 
workshops for staff.

6. To encourage, recognise and support excellence  
in research.
Research achievements were celebrated and 
acknowledged throughout the year, primarily 
through the Vice-Chancellor’s report to Council, 
Division Research Committees and at Division 
and Group levels. An example of the University’s 
commitment to supporting quality research is 
the Lincoln University Research Fund, which was 
established as a means of reinvesting a proportion 
of the revenue earned through the Performance 
Based Research Fund. In 2006, $340,000 was 
allocated to 28 researchers across the University. 
Additional initiatives to support researchers 
during the year included advice on linking career 
development and research activity, specialist 
assistance with preparing external research funding 
bids and a series of workshops to outline research 
funding opportunities available. Regular Division 
research presentation seminars were also held. 

More formally, individual research performance was 
considered and rewarded, alongside other factors, 
through the Annual Salary Review process. 

7. To strengthen and promote existing areas of  
research performance and nurture areas of  
emerging talent.
The National Centre for Advanced Bio-Protection 
Technologies commenced 15 new multi-year research 
projects across its four research themes (Biosecurity, 
Biocontrol, Agri-Biotechnology and Matauranga 
Mäori Bio-Protection) in 2006. Funded through 
the Centres of Research Excellence programme, 
the projects included: prediction models for weed 
naturalisation, spread and decline; biodiversity and 
ecosystem function; and methods for resorting native 
plants on production lands with associated Mäori 
knowledge and practices. The Centre for Viticulture 
and Oenology was reinvigorated during the year, with  
the appointment of a new Director among other 
changes. The Centre brings together researchers 
from across the University’s four Divisions in an 
interdisciplinary approach to the science and 
commerce of wine. Staff also worked closely with 
colleagues in industry and Crown Research Institutes 
and particularly with researchers and growers involved 
with the Marlborough Wine Research Centre. Work 
to establish a new research centre in Sustainable 
Production Agriculture was also advanced, with the 
new centre likely to be established in early 2007. 
The University’s other formalised research centres 
continued to make important contributions. The 
Agribusiness and Economics Research Unit (AERU), 
Centre for Advanced Computational Solutions (C-
fACS), Centre for Soil and Environmental Quality 
(CSEQ), Isaac Centre for Nature Conservation, Tourism 
Recreation Research and Education Centre (TRREC) 
all performed well in 2006. Emerging researchers 
were supported through staff mentoring and other 
professional development opportunities. 

8. To stimulate knowledge transfer, innovation 
and commercialisation by staff and students.
A major development during 2006 was the 
commencement of a two-year project with the 
University of Canterbury to develop a culture of 
enterprise and innovation in biotechnology at both 
universities, funded through the Government’s 
Growth and Innovation Pilot Initiatives programme. 
The $2.4 million awarded to the joint project through 
the programme, will be used to bring in private sector 
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biotechnology science entrepreneurs to interact 
with students and researchers, enhance courses to 
prepare students for the commercial world and to 
appoint entrepreneurial research experts to help 
identify commercial potential in research projects. 
Other activity to encourage knowledge transfer and 
commercialisation by staff and students included: 
support for developing and registering patent 
applications, improvements to policy and practices 

surrounding the distribution of commercialisation 
revenue and the management of intellectual property 
and, in some circumstances, relief from teaching and 
other duties to concentrate on commercialisation 
work. Progress was also made to bring Lincoln 
Ventures Limited (a wholly-owned research and 
development company of the University) into closer 
and more regular contact with academic staff and 
managers from the University.
 

Associated Performance 
Indicators

�00�
Forecast

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

End
Notes

Postgraduate student enrolments
- Head Count
- EFTS (equivalent full-time student)

590
406

650
406

564
383

634
487

635
476

Doctoral scholarships funded 
by Lincoln University

16 15 13 17 15

Postgraduate Student 
Satisfaction Survey – proportion 
of students expressing ‘broad 
satisfaction’ with supervision 

biennial 
survey

biennial 
survey

93% biennial 
survey

92%

Research degree completions > 60 85 68 26 n/a

Research contract revenue (excluding 
revenue earned by subsidiaries)

$12,751,000 $13,077,000 $13,087,000 $11,995,000 $8,914,000

Premium research publications > 500 376 459 502 376 2

Revenue from PBRF $3,803,000 $3,739,000 $1,322,000 $546,000 n/a

Strategic Objective 3
Community and Industry Engagement
To encourage staff and students to engage, 
challenge and support the wider community.

9. To strengthen and promote linkages with  
communities of special interest.
Connections with leading industry groups, 
secondary schools and Lincoln University alumni 
were important aspects of community engagement 
activity during 2006. Engagement with schools 
included the development of learning resources and 
modules by Lincoln University staff for use in school 
science, graphics (landscape architecture) and 
tourism/geography classes, a series of campus visits 
by principals and careers advisors, and professional 
development days for teachers from Christchurch 

Boys’ High School and St Andrew’s College. 
The professional development days provided 
opportunities for teachers to discuss research and 
other developments with University academic staff 
and to take part in workshops relevant to their own 
specialist subject areas.  Alumni functions were held 
in centres and regions across New Zealand, with 
international functions taking place in the United 
Kingdom, Fiji and Australia. The alumni mailing 
list was also updated during the year, with 4,000 
new members added bringing the total to 25,000. 
Examples of initiatives to strengthen links with 
industry and employer groups included sponsorship 
of the Thrive Mainland business conference in 
Christchurch, the continuing partnership with the 
dairy industry through the South Island Dairying 
Development Centre and the Commerce Liaison 
Group (a stakeholder group established to provide 
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Associated Performance 
Indicators

�00�
Forecast

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

End
Notes

Community engagement 
publications and presentations 
(extension and popular press)

> 300 285 367 271 297 3

Revenue from consultancy activity > $450,000 $191,000 $383,965 $508,041 $554,480

Strategic Objective 4
Student Experience and Support
To enhance the student experience and 
study environment.

12. To enhance student academic and learning  
support services.
The redevelopment of the George Forbes Memorial 
Library was a significant project in 2006. Based 
on the principle of an ‘information commons’, 
the redevelopment combines traditional library 
resources and information technology to create 
an effective learning and research environment. 
The redevelopment added computer laboratories, 

the University with an external perspective and 
advice on matters related to commerce programmes 
and research). Engagement with the public in 
general included the ‘Lincoln Hot Science with 
Kim Hill’ seminar series organised by the Lincoln 
Resource, contributions by staff to local, national 
and international media and the annual State of 
the Nation’s Environment address organised by the 
University’s Isaac Centre for Nature Conservation. 
(Refer to Strategic Objectives 5 and 6 for reports on 
engagement with Mäori and Pasifika communities.)
 
10. To provide extension and continuing 
education opportunities for people outside 
the formal University community.
Extension and continuing education programmes 
were conducted both by Divisions and through the 
Professional Development Group. A new initiative 
in 2006 was the introduction of the Food and 
Agribusiness Marketing Experience. This programme 
took twenty agribusiness leaders from New Zealand 
to North America, Europe, China and Japan in 
two separate trips during the year. The Food and 
Agribusiness Marketing Experience programme 

is supported by the Agricultural and Marketing 
Research and Development Trust (AGMARDT) 
and is a joint venture between Lincoln University, 
Massey University and the University of Otago. The 
programme attracted considerable interest from 
the agribusiness sector and will play a major role in 
future collaboration with industry sectors.

11. To foster and improve the management 
of University consultancy activity.
Consultancy work undertaken by University staff 
is managed through the Provision for Intellectual 
Maintenance and Development policy. A working 
party was established in 2006 to review the current 
framework and to recommend how consultancy 
policies and practices could be improved. The report 
of the working party will be considered in 2007, when 
it is expected that a new consultancy policy will be 
adopted to support staff to undertake consulting 
assignments. The introduction of the Performance 
Based Research Fund in 2003 shifted incentives 
for consultancy work towards activity more readily 
classified as research for Performance Based 
Research Fund purposes.

collection storage space, laptop connection points 
(both fixed and wireless), group meeting spaces and 
student social spaces across three floors of the Ivey 
Hall building. The work was performed in two stages 
over the 2005/06 and 2006/07 summer breaks 
to minimise disruption for students. Also making 
contributions towards meeting this objective were: 
the creation of wireless internet ‘hotspots’ around 
the library, cafes, meeting rooms and the Union 
building; new full-text electronic journal databases; 
the creation of a digital theses database as part of the 
Australasian Digital Theses Program (a collaborative 
project to establish a distributed database of digital 
versions of theses produced by postgraduate 
research students at Australian and New Zealand 
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Group to provide professional clinical care, support 
for students with disabilities through the Inclusive 
Education Team, the commencement of an upgrade 
of student clubroom facilities and improvements to 
security and landscaping around halls of residence. 
The provision of comfortable social space for students 
was also a priority within the library redevelopment, 
with the creation of a new social space, The Lounge, 
on the ground floor. The University appointed a Mäori 
and Pacific Student Support Co-ordinator to improve 
support services for Mäori and Pacific students. 

14. To celebrate the cultural diversity of the 
University and foster cross-cultural understanding 
amongst staff, students and the community.
International Week and Te Wiki o Te Reo Mäori 
(Mäori Language Week) were highlights during 
2006. Organised by the Lincoln University Students’ 
Association and supported by the University, 
International Week is a festival celebrating the 
diversity of international cultures on campus. Events 
included film evenings, a food festival and the annual 
International Night at which individual performers 
and performance groups showcased dance and 
song from across the globe. Mäori Language Week 
events were co-ordinated by University staff and 
Te Awhioraki (Mäori Students’ Association), as was 
a celebration of Te Matariki – the Mäori New Year. 
Te Reo Mäori workshops were held for staff during 
the year, as was the annual celebration for Mäori 
graduates. The celebration, supported by Kaumätua 
of Te Taumutu Rünanga, provides an opportunity to 
celebrate the achievements of Mäori graduates in a 
culturally appropriate way.

universities); and improvements to grade appeal 
and thesis examination procedures. The semester 
one Orientation was given more emphasis in 2006, 
with students encouraged to attend workshops and 
seminars covering study skills, access to support 
services and other important aspects of life at Lincoln 
University. Ngä Kete e Toru, a collection and learning 
space dedicated to Mäori library material, was 
created in 2006 to provide a prominent reference 
point for learning material with a Mäori dimension.

13. To provide a responsive and supportive  
environment that reflects the diversity of  
student lifestyles.
A review of chaplaincy services was conducted 
in 2006 to ensure services were consistent with 
student and staff support needs. The relationship 
of the chaplaincy service to other student support 
networks and services on campus was clarified, and 
the role of the chaplains within that wider network 
was confirmed. The University has a diverse mix of 
student support services, covering both academic 
and pastoral support. A comprehensive review of 
that support network is planned for 2007 to ensure 
its effectiveness and relevance.

The University’s Early Childhood Education Centre 
was extended in 2006 to increase capacity and 
generally enhance the quality of service and facilities. 
The centre provides early childhood education 
for children of students, staff and members of the 
local community. Other initiatives in support of this 
objective included the employment of a mental health 
professional within the Student Health and Support 

Associated Performance 
Indicators

�00�
Forecast

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

End
Notes

Student Satisfaction Survey 
– overall satisfaction
-  Undergraduate

-  Postgraduate

> 95% 

biennial 
survey

triennial 
survey

biennial 
survey

triennial 
survey

97%

94%

biennial 
survey

triennial 
survey

95%

1

Graduate Feedback Survey 
– overall satisfaction

> 95% 98% 99% 95% 94%

Course completion rate 
(successful completion)

> 80% 81% 80% 81% n/a

Course retention rate > 95% 93% 94% 94% n/a

Scholarship funds distributed 
by Lincoln University (all 
funding sources)

> $3,400,000 $3,711,000 $3,264,000 $2,966,000 $2,584,000
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Strategic Objective 5
Mäori Aspirations
To contribute to Mäori development 
aspirations and to meet responsibilities in 
relation to the Treaty of Waitangi.

15. To increase the number of Mäori students, and 
the proportion of domestic students who are Mäori.
The number of Mäori students increased by 8% on a 
head count basis and by 16% on an EFTS basis from 
2005 to 2006. The proportion of domestic students 
who identify as Mäori rose to 5.2% in 2006. Activity 
during the year included the signing of a revised 
Mäori Studies articulation agreement with the 
Christchurch Polytechnic Institute of Technology. The 
agreement provides a mechanism for graduates of the 
Christchurch Polytechnic Institute of Technology’s He 
Tohu Pokairua (Diploma in Mäori Studies) to credit 
their Diploma as one year of study towards any Lincoln 
University undergraduate degree. The University 
plans to use this as a model for agreements with 
other providers. The University also worked closely 
with Te Tapuae o Rehua Limited (a partnership with 
Ngäi Tahu, the University of Canterbury, Christchurch 
College of Education, Christchurch Polytechnic 
Institute of Technology, Otago Polytechnic and the 
University of Otago) to increase Mäori participation in 
tertiary education, particularly through the provision 
of scholarships and targeted promotion within Mäori 
communities. 

16. To contribute to the development of Mäori 
communities through engagement, academic 
programmes and extension activities.
A Charter of Understanding between Te Taumutu 
Rünanga and Lincoln University was signed in June 
2006, and marks a significant development in the 
University’s approach to engagement with Mäori. 
The Charter formalises a long-standing relationship 
between the local rünanga and the University. The 
Charter codifies the principles upon which that 
relationship is based and establishes specific goals 
and objectives for the parties to work towards. Those 
goals cover education, research, cultural input, 
rünanga participation in University decision-making 
and protection and enhancement of the health and life 
of Te Waihora / Lake Ellesmere. A joint management 
group has been established to lead implementation 
of Charter-based initiatives. Other initiatives 
contributing to the achievement of this objective 

over 2006 were the development of a framework for 
kaupapa Mäori units within each of the University’s 
four Divisions and the incorporation of ‘Mäori minor’ 
provisions into all undergraduate degrees. The 
kaupapa Mäori units provide a focus for research, 
curriculum development and student support within 
each of the four Divisions, while the Mäori minor 
provisions enable students to credit courses in Mäori 
studies, up to 300-level, towards any Bachelors 
degree alongside their major specialisation. The 
establishment of the kaupapa Mäori units and the 
implementation of the Mäori minor are indicative of 
the integrated approach to Mäori development being 
pursued by the University.

17. To enhance Mäori leadership within the 
University and improve the understanding of 
tikanga Mäori among staff and students.
The Charter of Understanding with Te Taumutu 
Rünanga, kaupapa Mäori units and te reo and 
tikanga Mäori workshops for staff were all important 
contributors to meeting this objective in 2006. 
Additionally, contributions to teaching programmes 
in resource management and other areas were made 
by Te Taumutu and Ngäi Tüähuriri. The University’s  
Mäori Development Task Force held four meetings 
during 2006, as scheduled. The Task Force, a committee 
of the University Council, brings together members 
of Council and senior management (including the 
Vice-Chancellor) with Mäori student and community 
representatives to provide governance oversight and 
leadership on Mäori development issues. Matters 
addressed during the year included monitoring Mäori 
student recruitment outcomes, the relationship with 
Te Tapuae o Rehua Limited, the implications of the 
Mäori research stocktake completed in 2005 and the 
relationships with Ngäi Tahu Rünanga, Te Taumutu 
Rünanga and other iwi.
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Associated Performance 
Indicators

�00�
Forecast

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

Mäori student enrolments
- Head Count
- EFTS  (equivalent full-time student)

> 115
> 80 

124
91

115
78

130
95

135
80

Mäori EFTS as proportion 
of total domestic EFTS

> 4.5% 5.2% 4.6% 5.3% 4.4%

Course completion rate for Mäori 
students (successful completion)

> 80% 72% 76% 80% n/a

Course retention rate for 
Mäori students

> 95% 86% 85% 88% n/a

Strategic Objective 6
Pacific Peoples’ Aspirations
To contribute to the education and 
economic aspirations of Pacific Peoples, 
both within New Zealand and in the wider 
Pacific region.

18. To increase the number of Pacific Island 
students, and the proportion of domestic 
students who are Pacific People.
The number of Pasifika students increased by 29% on 
a head count basis and by 41% on an equivalent full-
time student (EFTS) basis. The proportion of domestic 
students who identify as Pasifika increased to 1.8% in 
2006 from 1.3% in  2005. Pasifika recruitment activity 
included a campus experience programme aimed 
at Pasifika students in May, targeted promotional 
material and community networking by staff. The 
University is currently reviewing its approach to 
Pasifika recruitment and engagement.

19. To work with other agencies to improve 
the long-term wellbeing and sustainable 
development of Pacific Peoples.
The University resolved in 2006 to establish a 
‘Pasifika Reference Group’ of community and 
business leaders to provide advice and oversight 
on Pasifika development and engagement. An initial 
meeting between the University and participants in 
the Pacific tertiary education sector was co-ordinated 
by representatives of Pacific Trust Canterbury. The 
meeting was held to scope an approach to forming  
the Group and to receive advice on engaging  
with Pasifika communities more generally. Further 
discussions will be held in 2007 as a result of the 
initial meeting. A priority for the Group will be to 
provide advice to guide investment in research and 
teaching that can be of most benefit to Pasifika 
communities, and to assist with the development of 
student recruitment strategies. 

Associated Performance 
Indicators

�00�
Forecast

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

Pacific Island student enrolments
- Head Count
- EFTS (equivalent full-time student)

> 40
> 30

27
31

21
22

29
29

n/a
41

Pacific Island EFTS as proportion 
of total domestic EFTS

> 1.7% 1.8% 1.3% 1.6% 2.3%

Course completion rate for Pacific  
Island students (successful completion)

> 80% 73% 71% 69% n/a

Course retention rate for 
Pacific Island students

> 85% 93% 82% 75% n/a
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Strategic Objective 7
Internationalisation
To advance internationalisation across all 
areas of the University.

20. To provide a learning environment that reflects 
the importance of international experiences in  
the context of globalisation.
The University’s internationalisation approach is now 
well-established. The degree to which the University 
equips students for living in a globalised world has 
improved as a result of the internationalisation 
strategy, with the initial goal of increasing the  
amount of ‘internationally-relevant’ content in course  
work, where appropriate was achieved. The 
emphasis during 2006 was on promoting the value 
of an international exchange experience for New 
Zealand students and to increase the number of New 
Zealand students undertaking an exchange as part 
of their course of study. This was achieved through 
a combination of on-campus promotion to raise 
awareness and interest, changes to the administration 
of academic programme requirements to make it 
easier for students to undertake an exchange in 
their final year of study, and increased support for 
students wanting to find information and decide on 
a destination. The result of these initiatives was an 
increase in the number of students undertaking an 
exchange as part of their course of study in 2006.

21. To achieve an international student profile 
that has an appropriate diversity of study 
disciplines, country of origin and level of study.
The focus of international marketing activity in 
2006 was diversification of the international 
student profile. China continued to be the largest 
source of international students, and the University 
will continue to have a strong marketing presence 

in that country to reflect the high, though falling, 
demand. The total number of students from China 
at Lincoln University fell in 2006, reflecting the exit 
of a large degree cohort established in 2002/2003. 
The University’s China strategy was, and continues 
to be, adapted to reflect changes in the market. The 
updated strategy saw the University concentrate on 
a number of new regions and cities, and place greater 
emphasis on establishing pathway partnerships 
with colleges and universities in China. During 2006 
the University experienced growth in enrolments 
from markets other than China, reflecting the shift 
in marketing emphasis. Growth in enrolments from 
the USA, Malaysia, Japan, Thailand and Germany 
was experienced. The Study Abroad Programme, 
which attracts students from the USA and Europe, 
also experienced growth during the year as a result 
of the change in recruitment strategy. Strong 
growth was seen at postgraduate level in 2006, 
and in PhD enrolments in particular. The increase 
in the number of PhD students reflects a change 
in Government funding policy for international  
PhD students.

22. To identify and progress offshore delivery  
opportunities.
This objective was reassessed during the year, 
resulting in a change of emphasis away from the 
delivery of programmes offshore and towards 
establishing or renewing credit recognition and 
pathway agreements with international institutions 
to bring students to the Lincoln campus. This change 
of emphasis was made in the light of an updated 
risk assessment. New or updated pathway and/or 
delivery agreements were signed during the year 
with Sejati Education of Malaysia, Universidad 
Catolica del Maule of Chile, Japan College of Foreign 
Languages, Hua Yang High School of Xinyang, China, 
Novation Business School of Singapore and others.
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Associated Performance 
Indicators

�00�
Forecast

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

International enrolments by 
programme level, EFTS
- Postgraduate
- Undergraduate
- Sub-degree
- Entry Level
- Informal programmes

- Total 

 148 10%
 1,043 72%
 90 6%
 164 11%
 3 0%

 1,448 100%

 185 14%
 1,020 75%
 51 4%
 110 8%
 2 0%

 1,368 100%

 138 8%
 1,308 77%
 83 5%
 172 10%
 3 0%

 1,703 100%

 173 9%
 1,219 65%
 105 6%
 370 20%
 4 0%

 1,871 100%

 141 9%
 867 55%
 88 6%
 483 31%
 0 0%

 1,579 100%

International enrolments by 
programme discipline area, EFTS
- Agriculture and Sciences
- Commerce 
- Resource Studies and Social Science
- Foundation Studies and 

English Language
- Other (exchange, PhD)

 105 7%
 879 61%
 188 13%

 164 11%
 112 8%

 114 8%
 850 62%
 160 12%

 111 8%
 132 10%

 101 6%
 1,150 68%
 191 11%

 172 10%
 89 5%

 102 5%
 1,091 58%
 204 11%

 369 20%
 104 6%

 84 5%
 771 49%
 147 9%

 481 30%
 96 6%

International EFTS from 
the top five countries

< 80% 83% 87% 89% 85%

Number of countries represented 
in student population

> 60 66 58 62 62

Academic staff with their 
highest qualification from 
an international source

> 50% 54% 54% 55% 50%

Strategic Objective 8
Management and Stewardship
To manage the University’s people and 
resources in a manner that will enable 
all students and staff to perform at their 
optimum.

23. To encourage, recognise and reward excellent  
performance by students and staff.
Two formal processes for supporting and recognising 
excellent performance by staff were improved in 
2006. A review of the Professional Development and 
Appraisal process resulted in several changes being 
made, including a greater level of oversight and input 
from the Human Resources section to standardise 
the approach to professional development across 
all management units and Divisions. In addition 
to development needs and expectations being 
addressed with individual staff members, the process 
now includes an analysis of development needs 
across the University as a whole. This analysis can 
then be used to inform staff development planning 

at a ‘whole-of-University’ level. The Annual Salary 
Review process, the means by which applications 
for promotion and salary advancement are assessed 
across the University, also received attention during 
2006. A comprehensive review of the process was 
initiated, and will be completed in 2007. Staff union 
representatives were involved closely in each of 
these reviews. Student performance was recognised 
by the University and the Lincoln University Students’ 
Association through the annual ‘Blues and Golds 
Awards’ in September. Awards were presented for 
achievements in sport, culture, scholarship and 
leadership at a ceremony organised by the Students’ 
Association and attended by the Chancellor and Vice-
Chancellor. Commendations and prizes for strong 
academic performance were also awarded at Division 
and Group levels.

24. To develop teaching, research and commercial  
partnerships with national and international  
organisations.
The importance of collaboration and partnerships 
was reinforced at all levels of the University during 
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2006. The legal framework for the Agriculture 
and Life Sciences Partnership for Excellence 
with Massey University and leading agricultural 
and horticultural industries was established.  
Researchers and educators at both institutions 
have identified projects in several areas that will 
take advantage of the interactions with industry 
available through the partnership. The other 
significant partnership for the University continues 
to be the National Centre for Advanced Bio-
Protection Technologies, a collaborative Centre of 
Research Excellence between Lincoln University 
as the host institution, AgResearch Limited, Crop 
and Food Research Limited and Massey University. 
Collaborators within the centre included researchers 
from the universities of Auckland and Canterbury, 
Landcare Research, HortResearch, Te Whare 
Wänanga o Awanuiärangi and others. The commercial 
partnership with Ravensdown Fertiliser Co-operative 
continued to develop the eco-n nitrate inhibitor and 
related research, while a new partnership between 
the University, Key Industries Limited and Agrimm 
Technologies Limited will see the commercialisation 
of two new bio-protection products. Individual 
research partnerships at national and international 
level were maintained and developed by staff within 
the Divisions. The Vice-Chancellor was part of the 
New Zealand education team engaged in free trade 
negotiations with Malaysia, in Kuala Lumpur, in early 
2006 at the request of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
and Trade. Visits to China by senior University staff 
were also successful in developing relationships 
with leading Chinese agricultural universities. 
Also in China, the Vice-Chancellor represented the  
New Zealand Vice-Chancellors’ Committee as a 
member of a New Zealand delegation in discussions 
with Chinese officials on academic quality assurance 
systems and their part in the recognition of the 
standing of institutions and qualifications. These 
initiatives are consistent with the requirements for 
qualifications recognition that will be part of free 
trade negotiations between New Zealand and China.

25. To improve the organisational performance 
and cost effectiveness of the University.
A comprehensive business improvement audit was 
conducted in 2006. The project identified areas where 
the University’s performance could be improved 
through the application of revised processes or 
services. The review, of the activities of the University’s 
non-academic management units, produced a set 

of 80 recommendations for action in 2007. Taken 
together, the review outcomes are expected to reduce 
the cost of operating the University while maintaining 
or improving the levels of service in most areas. The 
large-scale review of academic delivery (noted in 
detail under objective three) also made a significant 
contribution to the performance of the University and 
therefore to this objective. The on-line enrolment 
development project was completed during the year, 
with students able to register for courses, pay course 
fees and access course-of-study advice on-line using 
a system developed in-house. The new process will 
significantly reduce the time required for students 
to enrol each year, particularly returning students, 
and will reduce the workload peak experienced 
by admissions staff at each enrolment period. 
The University also implemented a new supplier 
agreement for printing and photocopying services, 
which generated cost savings and introduced new 
hardware to improve performance. Associated with 
this change was a restructure of the University printery, 
bookshop and mailroom into one management unit 
(previously three) in a central location on campus. 
A University-wide Risk Management Framework was 
also implemented during the year.

26. To deploy capital resources in such a way as to  
enhance the effectiveness of the University  
over the long-term.
The need to update the collection management 
strategy for the Library was acknowledged in 2006 
and a full review of that strategy will be conducted in 
2007. The University has a significant level of capital 
investment in library resources and information 
technology and the review will consider how the 
capital requirements for library purchases are likely to 
change in the future. Activity to realise the value held 
in the Old Dairy Farm (Springs Rd) continued. Lincoln 
International (1995) Limited was sold during 2006 as 
the University looked to refine its focus and reduce 
operational risks from non-core activities. The capital 
works plan was implemented to schedule, with the 
redevelopment of the Library as the major project.

27. To act ethically and be an environmentally 
and socially responsible University.
The University’s Human Ethics Committee and the 
Animal Ethics Committee each met six times during 
the year. The committees are required to ensure 
that all research and teaching using human or 
animal subjects is conducted in an ethical manner. 
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A total of 103 applications were considered by the 
committees during 2006. In health and safety, the 
University achieved tertiary status through an ACC 
Workplace Safety Management Practice (WSMP) 
audit. Tertiary accreditation status is the highest 
level attainable and is defined as an organisation 
operating ‘best practice’ health and safety systems. 
The University had previously achieved secondary 
status, which is considered ‘good practice’, in 2004. 
A Waste Minimisation Group was established in 2005 
with the objectives of minimising the waste stream, 
investigating the most cost effective methods for the 
collection of recyclable materials and waste disposal 

and education of the benefits of waste reduction. A 
detailed plan was prepared and new services began 
operating on 1 June 2006. In the first two months of 
operation, general waste was reduced by 30% (by 
weight) and recyclables recovered was increased 
by 80%. The waste minimisation activities were 
complemented by energy management plans, which 
regulated the use of heating and lighting on campus 
to within acceptable levels. The University also 
purchased six additional light electric vehicles for 
use on campus. The new vehicles are used in place of 
conventional petrol or diesel vans for short trips and 
deliveries within the campus area. 

Associated Performance 
Indicators

�00�
Forecast

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

�00�
Actual

University Revenue  
University Expenditure
University Surplus

Group Revenue
Group Expenditure
Group Surplus

$000

70,208
70,826

(618)

79,408
79,426

(18)

$000

74,148
72,379

1,769

82,835
81,752

1,083

$000

72,587
68,973

3,614

82,851
79,009

3,842

$000

71,650
66,246

5,404

82,455
77,061
5,394

$000

60,851
59,663

1,188

71,991
69,858

2,133

Group Current Assets 
Group Non-Current Assets
Group Total Assets

Group Long-Term Liabilities
Group Current Liabilities
Group Total Liabilities

Group Equity

24,704
146,254
170,958

1,962
13,736
15,698

 155,260

40,475
171,315
211,790

6,274
20,187
26,461

185,329

30,110
147,154
177,264

1,873
18,800
20,673

156,591

26,898
147,214
174,112

2,033
19,512
21,545

152,567

22,321
90,978

113,299

2,059
19,240
21,299

92,000

Group Financial Ratios:
- Surplus as % of Revenue
- Cash Cover 
- Asset Productivity
- Return on Assets

0%
22%
51%
0%

1%
40%
45%

1%

5%
32%
47%

2%

7%
28%
47%

3%

3%
24%
64%

2%

Health and Safety - reported 
accidents and incidents per full-
time equivalent staff member.

< 0.07 0.12 0.10 0.07 0.09
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Notes to the Associated 
Performance Indicators

1 Student Surveys.
 A review of University survey activity was 

undertaken in 2006. The review concluded that 
the Undergraduate Student Satisfaction Survey 
should be conducted on a triennial, rather than 
biennial, cycle. A survey of undergraduates 
was, therefore, not conducted in 2006, it being 
postponed until 2007. 

2 Premium Publications.
 ‘Premium’ publications are: authored books; 

editing of books, journals or proceedings; chapters 
in books; refereed journal articles; refereed 
conference proceedings; designs; patents; reports 
for external bodies; student theses (student 
theses not included in 2003). Figures for 2006 are 
provisional. Figures for 2005 are final publication 
figures and differ from the provisional figures 
reported in Annual Report 2005. 

3 Community Engagement Publications.
 ‘Community engagement’ publications are those 

published in popular media such as newspapers 
and magazines. Figures for 2006 are provisional. 
Figures for 2005 are final publication figures and 
differ from the provisional figures reported in 
Annual Report 2005.
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��
Equity of Opportunity in  
Education and Employment



Lincoln University is committed to a policy of equal 
opportunity in the provision of education and 
employment. The University seeks to provide equal 
access and encouragement in areas of recruitment, 
enrolment, selection, promotion, conditions of 
employment and career development. The aim is 
to enable people to pursue their educational and 
professional careers without being limited by factors 
that are irrelevant to career aspirations. 

Lincoln University’s Equal Opportunity policy seeks 
to:
• Provide equal access and encouragement for 

staff recruitment, selection, promotion and career 
development, regardless of race, gender, marital 
or parental status, age, religious or political belief, 
country of origin, disability or sexual orientation;

• Ensure the University complies with section 77A 
and 77D of the State Sector Amendment Act 1988 
and section 220 of the Education Act 1989 by 
maintaining and developing equal employment 
opportunities policies and programmes;

• Enhance the participation and support the 
progress of disadvantaged students or students 
from community groups that are traditionally 
under represented in the student body;

• Ensure the University complies with section 220 
of the Education Act 1989 and in the process 
provides equal access and encouragement to 
students regardless of race, gender, marital or 
parental status, age, religious or political belief, 
country of origin, disability or sexual orientation;

• Ensure the University identifies and develops 
strategies to overcome institutional barriers 
affecting equal access and employment; and

• Monitor the progress towards realising equal 
opportunities goals.

Access to Education
• Certificate in Foundation Studies and Certificate of 

University Preparation – The Foundation Studies 
and University Preparation programmes provide a 
pathway into the University for students without a 
university entrance qualification. The programmes 
also provide opportunities for students to 
improve their confidence before progressing to 
undergraduate study.

• English language programmes – Courses in English 
language were available for speakers of other 
languages, particularly international students and 
recent migrants. The University offered tuition 
towards IELTS (International English Language 
Testing System) certification or for the award of 
the Certificate in English for Academic Purposes. 

• Open entry – Lincoln University operates a 100% 
open entry policy for all students who meet 
academic entry requirements.

• Regional Education – This programme provided a 
selection of undergraduate courses in a distance 
learning format, utilising pre-prepared course 
material and regional face-to-face tutors. The 
programme enabled access to courses for students 
unable to study on campus.

• Financial support – The University provides funds 
for student scholarships and also administers 
applications and payments on behalf of external 
scholarship providers. The University makes 
monetary grants to students in hardship through 
the Student Hardship Fund. 

Equity of Opportunity

��



Educational and  
Pastoral Support 
• Academic study skills courses and advice 

– Workshops, written and multi-media material 
covering study skills and general academic advice 
are provided for students wanting to improve their 
performance. One-on-one advice and assistance 
is also available.

• Physical and mental health – Professionals are 
available on campus to provide assistance and 
advice to students.

• Inclusive Education Office – Support and assistance 
is provided to students with short-term and long-
term impairments, injuries or illnesses. Support 
services include note taking, typing, transcription, 
alternative examination arrangements, support 
with field trips, personal care, provision of 
specialist equipment and advocacy.

• For Mäori students – Support approaches for 
Mäori students are in place, including a designated 
social and study space in the University whare and 
a targeted academic study skills course. 

• For Pacific Island students – Support approaches 
for Pacific Island students are in place, including a 
designated social and study space. 

• For International students – The University has 
support services and strategies in place consistent 
with the Code of Practice for the Pastoral Care of 
International Students.

• Academic open door policy – Academic staff are 
encouraged to have an ‘open door’ for students 
during term time and immediately prior to 
examinations.

• Harassment – Policies and procedures are in place 
to discourage and remedy harassment by both 
students and staff.

Equal Employment 
Opportunity
Lincoln University maintains an equal employment 
opportunity programme. Specific activities and 
approaches undertaken as part of that programme 
during 2006 included the following:
• Recruitment, salary review and promotion 

policies and procedures that incorporated equal 
employment opportunity principles.

• Flexible work arrangements to accommodate staff 
for personal and family reasons were implemented 
as required for the benefit of both the employer and 
the employee. Arrangements included providing 
staff with the opportunity to make changes to the 
number of hours worked, time of work or place  
of work.

• Preparation work continued towards the 
Government’s Pay and Employment Equity Plan 
of Action. Activity was focused on the University’s 
tools and processes relating to remuneration, job 
choice and job opportunities.

• Training in the use of the University Job Evaluation 
Tool was undertaken by the Human Resources 
team to ensure consistency in setting salaries 
both on commencement and while in-service.

• Lincoln University’s parental leave policy 
contains provisions more favourable than the 
legislated minimum. This policy has encouraged 
a more family-friendly approach for the secondary 
caregiver.

• The employee assistance programme was available 
to all staff and provided access to confidential 
support and counselling services, free of charge.
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�� Group Financial Statements



19 April 2007

The Council and management of Lincoln University accepts responsibility for the preparation of the Group 
financial statements and the judgements used in them.

The Council and management of Lincoln University accepts responsibility for establishing and maintaining 
a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of  
financial reporting.

In the opinion of the Council and management of Lincoln University, the Group financial statements for the 
year ending 31 December 2006 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of Lincoln University and  
its subsidiaries.

Chancellor
Tom C. Lambie

Vice-Chancellor
Professor Roger J. Field

Finance Director
John A. Clark
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Group Statement of Financial Performance  These Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the Year Ended 31 December 2006 GROUP UNIVERSITY

Notes BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL

�00� �00� �00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

INCOME

Tertiary Education Commission Grant 13,974 16,300 16,242 13,974 16,300 16,242 

Tertiary Education Commission PBRF Funding 3,803 3,739 1,322 3,803 3,739 1,322 

Domestic Tuition Fees 6,160 6,340 5,778 6,160 6,340 5,778 

International Tuition Fees 18,568 17,467 21,678 18,568 17,467 21,678 

Trading Income 1 19,952 22,737 21,946 10,952 14,400 11,977 

Investment Income 1,800 2,485 2,071 1,600 2,165 1,809 

Research Contracts 12,751 13,077 13,087 12,751 13,077 13,087 

Trusts/Scholarships Income 5 700 690 727 700 660 694 

Sale of Land 1,700 0 0 1,700 0 0 

Total Income 2 ��,�0� ��,��� ��,��� �0,�0� ��,��� ��,��� 

ExPEndITURE

Personnel Expenses 44,592 44,636 43,348 39,992 39,388 38,115 

Operating Expenses 26,244 28,410 27,494 22,384 24,475 22,849 

Depreciation 7,890 7,909 7,513 7,750 7,720 7,355 

Trusts/Scholarships Expenses 5 700 797 654 700 796 654 

Total Expenditure 2 79,426 81,752 79,009 70,826 72,379 68,973 

net Surplus (deficit) 2 (18) 1,083 3,842 (618) 1,769 3,614 

Group Statement of Movements in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2006 GROUP UNIVERSITY

Notes BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL

�00� �00� �00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Opening Equity 155,278 156,591 152,567 154,521 154,521 150,725 

Net Surplus (Deficit) 3 (18) 1,083 3,842 (618) 1,769 3,614 

Elimination of Revaluation Reserve 
     on Assets Disposed 0 15 0 0 15 0

Increase (Decrease) in  
     Revaluation Reserves 4 0 27,640 182 0 27,640 182 

Total Recognised Revenues  
     and Expenses for the Period (18) 28,738 4,024 (618) 29,424 3,796 

Contributions to Equity 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Closing Equity 155,260 185,329 156,591 153,903 183,945 154,521 

��



Group Statement of Financial Position  These Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As at 31 December 2006 GROUP UNIVERSITY

Notes BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL

�00� �00� �00� �00� �00� �00�

ASSETS $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Current Assets

Cash and Bank Accounts 1,475 1,135 1,698 208 1,074 757 

Short-Term Bank Deposits 15,450 28,372 20,685 18,750 25,625 18,050 

Total Cash at Banks 6 16,925 29,507 22,383 18,958 26,699 18,807 

Accounts Receivable 7 4,714 7,036 4,674 4,014 6,586 4,260 

Property held for Disposal 0 1,005 0 0 1,005 0 

Inventories and Farm Stocks 8 3,065 2,927 3,053 2,985 2,808 2,985 

Total Current Assets 24,704 40,475 30,110 25,957 37,098 26,052 

non-Current Assets

Investments 9 2,654 2,364 2,654 3,162 2,626 3,162 

Property held for Disposal 1,886 1,005 2,010 1,886 1,005 2,010 

Permanent Assets 10 140,166 166,503 141,389 139,892 165,923 140,725 

Permanent Assets under Construction 1,548 1,443 1,101 670 1,443 1,101 

Total non-Current Assets 146,254 171,315 147,154 145,610 170,997 146,998 

TOTAL ASSETS 170,958 211,790 177,264 171,567 208,095 173,050 

LIABILITIES

Long-Term Liabilities

Employee Entitlements 11, 20 1,455 1,293 1,320 976 976 976 

Term Loans 19 507 4,981 553 507 4,981 553 

Total Long-Term Liabilities 1,962 6,274 1,873 1,483 5,957 1,529 

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 11 13,736 20,187 18,800 16,181 18,193 17,000 

Total Current Liabilities 13,736 20,187 18,800 16,181 18,193 17,000 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 15,698 26,461 20,673 17,664 24,150 18,529 

nET ASSETS 155,260 185,329 156,591 153,903 183,945 154,521 

EQUITY

Accumulated Funds 3 70,551 71,989 71,882 69,335 70,787 69,953 

Revaluation Reserves 4 76,569 100,616 76,569 76,568 100,615 76,568 

Trust Funds 5 8,140 12,724 8,140 8,000 12,543 8,000 

TOTAL EQUITY 155,260 185,329 156,591 153,903 183,945 154,521 
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Group Statement of Cash Flows  These Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the Year Ended 31 December 2006 GROUP UNIVERSITY

Notes BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL

�00� �00� �00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATInG ACTIVITIES

Cash was provided from:

Tertiary Education Commission Grant 13,974 15,931 15,489 13,974 15,931 15,489 

Tertiary Education Commission PBRF Funding 3,803 3,739 1,322 3,803 3,739 1,322 

Tuition Fees 23,556 22,697 26,031 23,556 22,697 26,031 

Revenue from Services 32,989 37,285 36,218 25,048 28,870 25,265 

Interest and Dividends 1,800 2,257 2,033 1,600 1,989 1,771 

76,122 81,909 81,093 67,981 73,226 69,878 

Cash was applied to:

Employees and Suppliers 70,581 73,464 70,429 62,945 64,272 60,202 

Interest Expense 43 53 56 43 53 56 

Net GST Paid (Received) (27) 33 (99) 6 38 (178)

70,597 73,550 70,386 62,994 64,363 60,080 

net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 13 5,525 8,359 10,707 4,987 8,863 9,798 

CASH FLOWS FROM InVESTInG ACTIVITIES

Cash was provided from:

Sales of Investments 1,700 697 10 1,700 450 9 

Reduction in Term Loan to Subsidiary 0 0 0 0 246 0 

Sales of Fixed Assets 0 72 52 0 63 52 

1,700 769 62 1,700 759 61 

Cash was applied to:

Purchases of Investments 0 26 64 0 26 64 

Net Assets of Subsidiary 0 169 0 0 0 0 

Purchases of Fixed Assets 6,500 6,235 7,324 6,500 6,130 7,044 

6,500 6,430 7,388 6,500 6,156 7,108 

net Cash Flows from Investing Activities (4,800) (5,661) (7,326) (4,800) (5,397) (7,047)

CASH FLOWS FROM FInAnCInG

Cash was provided from:

Term Loans 0 4,475 0 0 4,475 0 

Finance Lease raised 0 0 20 0 0 0 

0 4,475 20 0 4,475 0 

Cash was applied to:

Repayment of Term Loans 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Repayment of Finance Leases 36 49 50 36 49 30 

36 49 50 36 49 30 

net Cash Flows from Financing Activities (36) 4,426 (30) (36) 4,426 (30)

TOTAL CASH FLOWS 689 7,124 3,351 151 7,892 2,721 

Plus Opening Balances 16,236 22,383 19,032 18,807 18,807 16,086 

Closing Cash Balances and Short-Term Bank Deposits ��,��� ��,�0� ��,��� ��,��� ��,��� ��,�0� 
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notes to the Financial Statements
Statement of Financial Performance disclosures

1
 
 

TRAdInG InCOME GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Trading Revenue 7,438 6,485 7,438 6,485 

Sales to Subsidiaries 0 0 2,604 1,980 

Sales by Subsidiaries 12,657 13,010 0 0 

Grants from Subsidiaries 0 0 1,716 1,061 

Other University Income 2,258 2,100 2,258 2,100 

Other Student Related Income 384 351 384 351 

22,737 21,946 14,400 11,977 

Note: $1.37m has been reclassified as Trading Revenue from other University 
income for the comparative year ending December 2005.

2 InCOME And ExPEndITURE

Net Revenue is derived after allowing 
for the following items:

GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000

Income

Interest 2,433 2,053 2,165 1,791 

Dividends received 2 18 2 18 

Gains on disposal of Fixed Assets 33 42 28 42 

Expenditure

Bad Debts written off 34 254 34 232 

Increase (Decrease) in Provision for Doubtful Debts (4) (69) 4 (29)

Audit Fees paid to University Auditor 119 98 89 75 

Fees paid to University Auditor for Other Services 0 0 0 0 

Directors’ Fees 46 33 0 0 

Operating Leases 19 94 19 82 

Interest Expense 0 0 0 0 

Fixed Assets written off 15 0 15 0 

Amortisation of Deferred Development Costs 0 15 0 0 

Finance Charges on Finance Leases 53 57 53 56 

depreciation on:

 Buildings 3,781 3,592 3,781 3,592 

 Library 776 734 776 734 

 Plant and Equipment 2,976 2,843 2,787 2,685 

 Motor Vehicles 168 144 168 144 

 Furniture and Fittings 60 52 60 52 

 Leased Assets 148 148 148 148 

Total depreciation 7,909 7,513 7,720 7,355 
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
2

cont.
Councillors’ Fees

The following fees were paid to members of the Lincoln 
University Council during the year:

UNIVERSITY

�00� �00�

$000 $000

K R Brown 1 0 

J M Chetwin 3 3 

M A Clements 2 0 

D Couch 4 3 

I Donald 3 2 

A Gage 0 3 

B D Gargiulo 1 1 

A J Hall 3 2 

I Harper 2 2 

D A R Haslam 5 4 

T C Lambie 20 19 

E P Rogers 1 1 

P Rutherford 2 0 

P E Taylor 1 2 

C M Williams 2 1 

R Wynn-Williams 2 2 

Total Councillor Fees 52 45 

3 ACCUMULATEd FUndS GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Opening Balance at 1 January 71,882 69,037 69,953 67,196 

Surplus for the Year 1,083 3,842 1,769 3,614 

Less net Trust Income (245) (382) (204) (342)

Trust Purchase of Fixed Assets 176 0 176 0 

Revaluation Reserve on Asset Disposals 15 60 15 60 

Transfer Surplus to Trust (922) (675) (922) (575)

Closing Balance at 31 december 71,989 71,882 70,787 69,953 
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
4
 

REVALUATIOn  RESERVES GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Opening Balance at 1 January 76,569 76,447 76,568 76,446 

Add (Less) Revaluation realised on Assets 
   Disposed of during the Year (15) (60) (15) (60)

Debit Balances written off 42 0 42 0

Revaluation of Investments to Market Value at 
   Balance Date 146 182 146 182 

Add (Less) Revaluation of Permanent Assets to ‘in use’ 
   Market Value at Balance Date 27,467 0 27,467 0

Attributable to Trust Land and Buildings (3,593) 0 (3,593) 0

Closing Balance at 31 december 100,616 76,569 100,615 76,568 

Revaluation Reserves are as follows:

Land 32,739 21,575 32,739 21,575 

Buildings 69,296 52,992 69,296 52,992 

Plant, Machinery and Equipment 554 532 553 531 

Motorised Plant 160 201 160 201 

Furniture and Fittings 104 59 104 59 

Less Attributable to Trust Land and Buildings (3,593) 0 (3,593) 0

Investments 1,356 1,210 1,356 1,210 

100,616 76,569 100,615 76,568 

5 TRUST And SCHOLARSHIP FUndS GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Opening Balance at 1 January 8,140 7,083 8,000 7,083 

Trust Income 690 727 660 694 

Trust Expenses (797) (654) (796) (654)

Interest included in Investment Income 352 309 340 302 

Fixed Assets Purchased (176) 0 (176) 0 

Revalue Trust Fixed Assets 3,593 0 3,593 0 

Transfer Trust Surplus from Accumulated Funds 922 675 922 575 

Closing Balance at 31 december 12,724 8,140 12,543 8,000 

6 CASH GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Petty Cash 1 1 0 0 

US Dollar Account 867 1,103 867 424 

Short-Term Bank Deposits 28,372 20,685 25,625 18,050 

Current Accounts 267 594 207 333 

29,507 22,383 26,699 18,807 
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
7 ACCOUnTS RECEIVABLE GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Trade Debtors 5,903 3,948 4,927 3,216 

Prepaid Expenses 1,133 726 1,108 716 

Inter-entity Debtors 0 0 551 328 

7,036 4,674 6,586 4,260 

Note: Business conducted between Lincoln University and its subsidiaries was transacted on normal commercial terms.

8 InVEnTORIES GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Farm Consumables 73 106 73 106 

Bookshop 313 419 313 419 

Livestock 2,275 2,309 2,275 2,309 

Other Trading Units 266 219 147 151 

2,927 3,053 2,808 2,985 

Note: Most inventory purchases are subject to the Romalpa ownership clause.

9 InVESTMEnTS GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Shares in Companies 2,364 2,654 2,364 2,654 

Advance to Subsidiary Company 0 0 262 508 

2,364 2,654 2,626 3,162 

Note: The advance to the Subsidiary Company is explained in Note 12 - Related Parties.

10 PERMAnEnT ASSETS GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Freehold Land

At Cost 0 0 0 0 

At Valuation 37,679 26,515 37,679 26,515 

37,679 26,515 37,679 26,515 

Owned Buildings

At Cost 536 10,196 536 10,196 

At Valuation 105,496 89,874 105,496 89,874 

Accumulated Depreciation (25) (8,373) (25) (8,373)

106,007 91,697 106,007 91,697 
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
10 PERMAnEnT ASSETS continued GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Leased Buildings

At Capitalised Amount 0 0 0 0 

At Valuation 3,431 3,060 3,431 3,060 

Accumulated Depreciation 0 (148) 0 (148)

3,431 2,912 3,431 2,912 

Owned Plant and Machinery

At Cost 27,006 26,174 25,857 25,122 

At Valuation 4,030 4,140 3,723 3,833 

Accumulated Depreciation (21,714) (19,396) (20,807) (18,667)

9,322 10,918 8,773 10,288 

Leased Plant and Machinery

At Capitalised Amount 0 13 0 13 

Accumulated Depreciation 0 0 0 0 

0 13 0 13 

Motorised Plant

At Cost 1,545 1,277 1,486 1,220 

At Valuation 537 623 524 610 

Accumulated Depreciation (1,517) (1,456) (1,463) (1,404)

565 444 547 426 

Furniture and Fittings

At Cost 838 660 817 639 

At Valuation 920 969 920 969 

Accumulated Depreciation (945) (940) (937) (935)

813 689 800 673 

Library Books and Serials

At Cost 9,090 7,824 9,090 7,824 

At Valuation 5,445 5,445 5,445 5,445 

Accumulated Depreciation (5,849) (5,068) (5,849) (5,068)

8,686 8,201 8,686 8,201 

TOTAL nET BOOk VALUE 166,503 141,389 165,923 140,725 

Permanent Assets under Construction

Buildings 999 738 999 738 

Plant 444 363 444 363 

1,443 1,101 1,443 1,101 
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
11 ACCOUnTS PAYABLE GROUP UnIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Income in Advance 9,912 8,803 8,890 7,952 

Trade Creditors 5,526 5,558 4,755 4,821 

Employee Entitlements 4,710 4,398 4,369 4,070 

Current Portion of Finance Leases 39 41 39 41 

Inter-entity Creditors 0 0 140 116 

20,187 18,800 18,193 17,000 

EMPLOYEE EnTITLEMEnTS
Salary Accrual 719 297 662 297 

Annual Leave 3,508 3,313 3,283 3,080 

Long Service Leave 537 522 489 469 

Retirement Leave and other Employee Entitlements 1,298 1,586 911 1,200 

6,062 5,718 5,345 5,046 

Comprising

Current Liabilities 4,769 4,398 4,369 4,070 

Term Liabilities 1,293 1,320 976 976 

6,062 5,718 5,345 5,046 

Note: Employee Entitlements includes all personnel expenses earned but untaken at 31 December 2006.

12 RELATEd PARTY dISCLOSURES
During the year business was conducted between Lincoln University and its subsidiaries.   
All business was transacted on normal commercial terms.

�00� �00�

$000 $000
Sales to Subsidiaries were:

Lincoln Hospitality Limited 2,212 1,564 

Lincoln Ventures Limited 392 351 

Lincoln International (1995) Limited 0 65 

Grants received from Subsidiaries:

Lincoln Hospitality Limited 763 788 

Lincoln University Holdings Limited 458 0 

Lincoln Ventures Limited 495 273 

Purchases from Subsidiaries were:

Lincoln Hospitality Limited 765 704 

Lincoln Ventures Limited 35 54 

Lincoln International (1995) Limited 0 12 
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
12 RELATEd PARTY dISCLOSURES continued 2006 by: 2006 to: 2005 by: 2005 to:

$000 $000 $000 $000
Amount owed:

Lincoln Hospitality Limited 468 138 195 104 

Lincoln University Holdings Limited 262 0 508 0 

Lincoln Ventures Limited 83 2 96 2 

Lincoln International (1995) Limited 0 0 37 10 

813 140 836 116 

The amount owed by Lincoln University Holdings Limited is a loan advanced at a zero rate of interest and with no  
repayment date specified.

13 RECOnCILIATIOn OF nET REVEnUE TO nET 
CASH InFLOW FROM OPERATInG ACTIVITIES

GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Net Surplus (Deficit) 1,083 3,842 1,769 3,614 

non-cash Items:

Depreciation 7,909 7,513 7,720 7,355 

Assets Written Off 0 0 0 0 

(Gain) Loss on Disposal of Assets (35) (42) (30) (42)

(Gain) Loss on Disposal of Investments (34) 0 12 0 

Amortisation of Deferred Development Costs 0 5 0 0 

Add (Less) Movements in Working Capital Items:

(Increase) Decrease in Current Assets (3,241) 29 (3,154) (1,167)

Increase (Decrease) in Current Liabilities 1,382 (603) 1,193 60 

Add (Less) item Classified as Investing 
or Financing Activities:

Increase (Decrease) in Non-vesting  
   Employee Entitlements (27) (132) 0 (102)

Increase (Decrease) Current Portion Finance Lease 2 2 2 2 

Property Held for Sale Classified as a Current Asset 1,005 0 1,005 0 

Elimination of Net Assets on Sale of Subsidiary (31) 0 0 0 

Increase (Decrease) in Fixed Asset Accounts Payable 346 93 346 78 

net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 8,359 10,707 8,863 9,798 
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
14 FInAnCIAL InSTRUMEnTS GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Cash and Bank 1,135 1,698 1,074 757 

Short-Term Investments 28,372 20,685 25,625 18,050 

Accounts Receivable 7,036 4,674 6,586 4,260 

Investments 2,364 2,654 2,626 3,162 

Accounts Payable 20,187 18,800 18,193 17,000 

Term Loans 4,981 553 4,981 553 

Credit Risk
Balances exposing the Group to credit risk are cash, short-term bank deposits, accounts receivable and marketable 
securities.  The maximum amount of credit risk the Group is exposed to is $38,907,000 (2005 $29,711,000).

There is no significant concentration of credit risk. No collateral is held for the above financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk
The value of marketable securities is affected by changes in interest rates.  Interest rates are 
in the range 6.25% to 7.83%.  Terms to maturity vary from call to 1 November 2007.

Fair Value
The fair value of the financial instruments is approximately equal to the carrying 
amount disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has exposure to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies arising from normal trading activities.

The risk relates to both foreign exchange currencies held in overseas bank accounts and 
amounted to NZ $867,056 at 31 December 2006 (2005 NZ $1,103,368 ) and to amounts 
owed in foreign currencies of $Nil at 31 December 2006 (2005 NZ $151,330).

The Group holds off-balance sheet financial instruments as a hedge against movements 
in exchange rates. The net contract amount of foreign currency forward exchange 
contracts as at 31 December 2006 is: $742,170  (2005: $1,467,965).

Other than this, there is no significant risk related to foreign currency.

15 InVESTMEnT In SUBSIdIARIES
The initial investment by Lincoln University in Lincoln Ventures Limited was share capital of $408,311. 

Lincoln University Holdings Limited has issued but uncalled share capital 
of $100,000 ordinary shares as at 31 December 2006.

Lincoln Hospitality Limited has issued but uncalled share capital of $100,000 as at 31 December 2006.

The University has a 100% shareholding in all subsidiary companies. All subsidiaries have a 31 
December balance date and have been included in the financial statements for the full year. 
The subsidiaries are involved in activities related to both education and research. 

16 SEGMEnT InFORMATIOn
Lincoln University operates predominantly in the tertiary education sector in New Zealand.  Significant 
revenue is derived from Tertiary Education Commission grants and course fees.  The University 
also derives revenue from trading activities related to both education and research.
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
17 CAPITAL, LEASE And OTHER COMMITMEnTS GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Capital Commitments Approved and Contracted 935 1,381 933 1,381 

Non-cancellable Operating Leases

Up to one year 17 22 9 22 

One to two years 16 4 2 4 

Three to five years 12 4 0 4 

Six years and more 0 1 0 1 

45 31 11 31 

Other Non-cancellable Contracts

Computer Maintenance

Up to one year 0 79 0 79 

One to two years 0 0 0 0 

Three to five years 0 0 0 0 

Six years and more 0 0 0 0 

0 79 0 79

Total Commitments 980 1,491 944 1,491 

18 COnTInGEnT ASSETS And LIABILITIES
Lincoln University, Lincoln Ventures Limited, Lincoln Hospitality Limited and Lincoln 
Environmental Limited have no known material contingent liabilities (2005: Nil).

19 TERM LOAnS GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Opening Balance 594 624 594 624 

Loans Raised (Refer to detail below) 4,475 0 4,475 0 

Finance Leases Raised 0 12 0 12 

Repayments (49) (42) (49) (42)

Closing Balance 5,020 594 5,020 594 

CURREnT PORTIOn

Lease Liabilities 39 41 39 41 

Other Term Liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Current Portion 31 December 39 41 39 41 

TERM PORTIOn

Lease Liabilities

 1 year 43 46 43 46 

 2-5 years 155 198 155 198 

 Over 5 years 308 309 308 309 
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notes to the Financial Statements continued
19 TERM LOAnS v GROUP UNIVERSITY

�00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Other Term Liabilities

 1 year 0 0 0 0 

 2-5 years 4,475 0 4,475 0 

 Over 5 years 0 0 0 0 

Term portion at 31 December 4,981 553 4,981 553 

Closing Balance at 31 december 5,020 594 5,020 594 

The weighted average effective interest rate on the finance leases is 9.27% (2005: 9.35%) 
The finance leases are secured upon the assets to which they relate. 

The loan of $4,475,000 has been advanced by the Tertiary Education Commission under the Partnership 
for Excellence funding scheme.  The loan is a suspensory loan at an interest rate of zero percent.  The 
loan will be converted to equity at the end of five years, provided that certain criteria are met.

20 nOn-VESTInG EMPLOYEE EnTITLEMEnTS
Non-vesting employee entitlements were valued by Eriksen & Associates Limited, Actuaries.  The valuation was carried 
out as at 18 November 2005 and was done in accordance with the requirements of the NZ IAS 19 - Employee Entitlements.

21 InTERnATIOnAL FInAnCIAL REPORTInG STAndARdS
In December 2002, the Accounting Standards Review Board announced that New Zealand’s equivalent 
to the International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) will apply to New Zealand reporting 
entities for periods commencing from 1 January 2007.  The Lincoln University Group will prepare its 
first set of financial statements under NZ IFRS for the period ending 31 December 2007.

Lincoln University’s in-house project team has assessed the issues and differences between current 
accounting policies and accounting policies under NZ  IFRS, identified the key areas of the financial 
statements that will be impacted by the transition to NZ IFRS and will oversee the adoption of NZ IFRS.

The project team has identified a number of Accounting Policy changes that will impact on the Financial Statements:

1) Revenue Recognition  
Adoption of this IFRS policy will result in a reduction of the reported surplus by $36,000 in 2006.  There would 
have been a corresponding increase to current liabilities under the sub-heading of Revenue in Advance.

2) Statement of Cash Flows 
The IFRS policy for Cash Flow Statements changes the definition of cash balances to exclude bank deposits placed 
on terms of more than 90 days.  Term deposits over 90 days will be classified as held to maturity investments.  

Adoption of this policy will result in cash balances being reduced by $19.15 million in 2006 with a corresponding  
increase in the value of Investments.

3) Property Held for Disposal 
Under NZ IFRS for 2007 it is uncertain at this point as to whether the asset currently disclosed as “Property Held for  
Disposal” can continue to be treated as such under NZ IFRS 5 “Non-Current Assets held for Sale”.   
Advice is being sought in respect of the interpretation of NZ IFRS 5.

It should be noted that the actual impact of adopting NZ IFRS may differ from that presented above.

22 POST BALAnCE dATE EVEnTS
There are no significant post balance date events.
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Statement of Accounting Policies
For the Year Ended 31 December 2006

REPORTING ENTITY
These financial statements report the activities of 
the Lincoln University Group. The Group consists 
of Lincoln University, Lincoln University Holdings 
Limited, Lincoln Hospitality Limited, Lincoln Ventures 
Limited, Lincoln Environmental Limited and the Ivey 
Hall and Memorial Hall 125th Anniversary Trusts.

The financial statements of Lincoln University have 
been prepared in accordance with the Crown Entities 
Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply 
with generally accepted accounting practice.

MEASUREMENT BASE
The accounting principles recognised as appropriate 
for the measurement and reporting of financial 
performance and financial position on a historical cost 
basis are followed by the Group, with the exception 
that certain fixed assets have been revalued.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies, which materially 
affect the measurement of results and financial 
position, have been applied:

1. Budgets
The budget figures are those which have been 
approved by the Council at the beginning of the 
financial year.

The budget figures have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practice and are 
consistent with the accounting policies adopted 
by the Council for the preparation of the financial 
statements.

2. Receivables
Receivables are recorded at their estimated realisable 
value after providing for doubtful and uncollectable 
debts.

3. depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis on 
all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land, 
at rates calculated to allocate the assets’ cost or 
valuation less estimated residual value, over their 
estimated useful lives.

Major depreciation periods are:
• Freehold buildings:
 Structure - 40 to 100 years
 Fit out - 17 to 75 years
 Building services -   20 to 75 years
• Plant and equipment - 5 to 10 years
• Office furniture and equipment - 5 to 10 years
• Computer equipment and  

technology systems - 3 to 10 years
• Library books and serials - 10 to 20 years

4. Permanent Asset Valuation Methods
It is Lincoln University’s policy to revalue all land and 
buildings by class (with the exception of improvements 
to land) on a cyclical basis. None of these assets have 
a valuation greater than three years old. Additions to 
fixed assets are recorded at cost. Improvements to 
land are valued at historic cost.

Revaluations above book value are taken to the 
revaluation reserve. Revaluations below book value 
are first attributed to existing revaluation reserves and 
any remaining balance is expensed in the Statement of 
Financial Performance. Realised gains and losses are 
recorded in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Land is valued at market valuation and buildings are 
valued at Optimised Depreciated Replacement Cost. 
The valuations were carried out on 31 December 2006 
by external valuers, FordBaker Valuation Limited.

Library Books and Serials have been valued by the 
Librarian in 1995 using the depreciated replacement 
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cost method based on industry assumptions of book 
and serial values and life. Additions to the library 
collection are recorded at cost.

Plant and Machinery, Motorised Plant and Furniture 
and Fittings were valued in 1995 by external 
valuers FordBaker Valuation Limited at depreciated 
replacement cost. Subsequent additions have been 
recorded at cost.

5. Employee Entitlements
Annual Leave for Academic and General Staff has 
been accrued. In addition, an accrual has been made 
for retirement gratuities for both Academic and 
General Staff and long service leave for General Staff. 
Both retirement gratuities and long service leave 
have been accrued on the following basis:

• Leave and gratuities which have vested in the 
employee (an entitlement has been established) 
have been measured at nominal value using 
remuneration rates current at reporting date. This 
is included as a Current Liability.

• Leave and gratuities which have not yet vested 
in the employee (no entitlement has been 
established) have been measured using the 
present value measurement basis which discounts 
expected future cash outflows. This is treated as a 
Long-Term Liability. 

6. Capital Work in Progress
Capital Work in Progress is valued on the basis of 
expenditure incurred and Certified Gross Progress 
Claim Certificates up to balance date. Financing 
costs have been capitalised during the construction 
of assets. Work in Progress is not depreciated. The 
total cost of a project is transferred to the relevant 
asset class on its completion and then depreciated.

7. Leases
Finance Leases
Leases which effectively transfer to Lincoln University 
substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the leased item are classified as finance leases. 
These are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of 

the asset or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The leased assets and corresponding 
lease liabilities are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position. The leased assets are depreciated 
over the period Lincoln University is expected to 
benefit from their use on a straight line basis.

Operating Leases
Leases where the lessor effectively retains 
substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the leased items are classified as operating 
leases. Payments under these leases are charged as 
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

8. Statement of Cash Flows
Cash means cash balances on hand, held in bank 
accounts, demand deposits and other highly liquid 
investments in which Lincoln University invests as 
part of its day-to-day cash management.

Operating Activities include cash received from all 
income sources of the Group and record the cash 
payments made for the supply of goods and services. 
Agency transactions are recognised as receipts and 
payments in the Statement of Cash Flows given that they 
flow through Lincoln University’s main bank account.

Investing Activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of Non-Current Assets.

Financing Activities comprise activities that 
change the equity and debt capital structure of 
Lincoln University.

9. Financial Instruments
Lincoln University is party to financial instruments 
as part of its normal operations. These financial 
instruments include bank accounts, investments, 
debtors, creditors and loans. All financial instruments 
are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
and all revenues and expenses in relation to financial 
instruments are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance.

Except for loans, which are recorded at cost, and 
those items covered by a separate accounting policy, 
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all financial instruments are shown at their estimated 
fair value.

10. Investments
Investments, other than investments in subsidiaries, 
are valued at market value. Investments in 
subsidiaries remain at their initial cost. 

11. Property held for disposal
Land and Buildings identified as for disposal are 
disclosed as Non-Current Assets and valued at the 
lower of cost or net realisable value.

12. Inventories and Farm Stocks
Inventories have been valued at the lower of cost 
price or net realisable value using the first-in, first-
out basis. Where necessary, obsolete inventories 
were expensed during the year.

Farm stocks have been valued at net current value.

13. Goods and Services Tax
All items in the financial statements are exclusive of 
GST, with the exception of receivables and payables. 
Where GST is not recoverable as an input tax then it 
is recognised as part of the related expense.

14. Research Grants
Revenue received for research, which will provide 
reciprocal benefits to the research funding 
provider, is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance as ‘Research Contracts’ income when 
research expenditure is incurred. Those research 
funds which are not expended at the year-end are 
included in the Statement of Financial Position as 
Income in Advance to recognise the future obligation 
to complete the research.

Revenue for research, which provides no reciprocal 
benefits to the research funding provider, is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance 
as ‘Research Contracts’ income when received.

15. Foreign Currencies
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction 

or under forward exchange contracts. Monetary  
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies have been translated to New Zealand 
currency at the spot rates of exchange prevailing 
at financial year-end. Realised exchange gains and 
unrealised gains on monetary transactions are 
included in the Statement of Financial Performance.

16. Bequests, Gifts and donations
Non Cash bequests are valued at their current market 
value based on independent valuations.

Bequests, gifts and donations to Lincoln University 
are included as income in the year they are received 
and then transferred to Trust Funds to be allocated 
for specific purposes.

17. Basis of Consolidation
The subsidiaries of Lincoln University have been 
consolidated using the line by line method. Their 
incomes and expenditures are included in the 
Statement of Financial Performance, and the assets 
and liabilities are included in the Statement of 
Financial Position. All significant inter-company 
transactions have been eliminated. 

18. Taxation
Tertiary institutions are exempt from the payment of 
income tax as they are treated by the Inland Revenue 
Department as charitable organisations. Accordingly, 
no charge for income tax has been provided for.

Lincoln University Holdings Limited, Lincoln Ventures 
Limited, Lincoln Hospitality Limited and the Ivey Hall 
and Memorial Hall 125th Anniversary Trusts are 
exempt from income tax under Section CW34(b) of 
the Income Tax Act 2004.

From time to time, these companies make grants for 
educational purposes.

19. Changes in Accounting Policies
All policies have been applied on a basis consistent 
with the previous year.
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Auditor’s Report
To the readers of Lincoln University and Group’s Financial Statements and Performance Information for the year ended 31 December 2006

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Lincoln 
University (the University) and Group. The Auditor-
General has appointed me, Julian Tan, using the staff 
and resources of Audit New Zealand to carry out the 
audit of the Financial Statements and Statement of 
Service Performance of the University and Group, on 
his behalf, for the year ended 31 December 2006. 

Unqualified opinion
In our opinion:
• The Financial Statements of the University and 

Group on pages 28 to 43:
1. Comply with generally accepted accounting 

practice in New Zealand; and
2. Fairly reflect:

- The University and Group’s Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2006; 

- The results of operations and cash flows for 
the year ended on that date; and

• The performance information of the University on 
pages 10 to 22 fairly reflects its service performance 
achievements measured against the performance 
targets adopted for the year ended on that date.

The audit was completed on 19 April 2007, and is the 
date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In 
addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Council 
and the Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion
We carried out the audit in accordance with the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all 
the information and explanations we considered 
necessary in order to obtain reasonable assurance 
that the Financial Statements and Statement 

of Service Performance did not have material 
misstatements whether caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions  of 
amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s 
overall understanding of the Financial Statements and 
Statement of Service Performance. If we had found 
material misstatements that were not corrected, we 
would have referred to them in our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures to test the 
information presented in the Financial Statements and 
Statement of Service Performance. We assessed the 
results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:
• Determining whether significant financial and 

management controls are working and can be 
relied on to produce complete and accurate data;

• Verifying samples of transactions and account 
balances;

• Performing analyses to identify anomalies in the 
reported data;

• Reviewing significant estimates and judgements 
made by the Council;

• Confirming year-end balances;
• Determining whether accounting policies are 

appropriate and consistently applied; and
• Determining whether all financial statement 

disclosures are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do 
we guarantee complete accuracy of the Financial 
Statements and Statement of Service Performance.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the Financial Statements and 
Statement of Service Performance. We obtained all 
the information and explanations we required to 
support our opinion above.
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Responsibilities of the Council and the Auditor
The Council is responsible for preparing Financial 
Statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practice in New Zealand. Those Financial 
Statements must fairly reflect the financial position 
of the University and Group as at 31 December 2006. 
They must also fairly reflect the results of operations 
and cash flows for the year ended on that date. The 
Council is also responsible for preparing performance 
information that fairly reflects the service performance 
achievements for the year ended 31 December 
2006. The Council’s responsibilities arise from the 
Education Act 1989 and the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

We are responsible for expressing an independent 
opinion on the Financial Statements and Statement 
of Service Performance and reporting that opinion 
to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 
of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Crown Entities  
Act 2004. 

Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the 
independence requirements of the Auditor-General, 
which incorporate the independence requirements 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New 
Zealand.

In addition to the annual audit of the University and 
its subsidiaries, we perform an annual audit of the 
Vice-Chancellor’s declaration on the Performance 
Based Research Fund external income.

Other than the audit and this assignment, we have 
no relationship with or interests in the University or 
any of its subsidiaries.

Julian Tan
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Christchurch, New Zealand

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the 
audited financial statements and statement of service 
performance

This audit report relates to the financial statements and 
statement of service performance of Lincoln University 
and group for the year ended 31 December 2006 included 
on the university’s web site. The university’s Council is 
responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the web 
site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of 
the web site. We accept no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements and 
statement of service performance since they were initially 
presented on the web site.

The audit report refers only to the financial statements 
and statement of service performance named above. It 
does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from electronic data communication 
they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited 
financial statements, statement of service performance 
and related audit report dated 19 April 2007 to confirm the 
information included in the audited financial statements 
and statement of service performance presented on this 
web site.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial information may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Quick Reference Facts and Figures
Enrolled Students (Head Count) �00� �00� �00� �00�
(Excluding non-assessed programmes, except where indicated.)

Total Enrolled Students 3,995 4,268 4,811 4,115

PhD Degrees 185 140 151 141
Master Degrees 265 265 274 290
Bachelor with Honours 42 54 58 81
Postgraduate Diplomas and Certificates 158 105 151 123
Graduate Diplomas and Certificates 138 145 120 146
Bachelor Degrees 2,360 2,552 2,582 2,230
Diplomas 246 188 152 146
Certificates (excluding Foundation Studies) 76 117 191 178
Undergraduate Certificate of Proficiency, 
   Study Abroad, Other 356 340 280 224
Certificates in Foundation Studies and 
   English Language for Academic Purposes 169 362 852 556

Full-time 2,388 2,744 3,213 2,812

Part-time 1,607 1,524 1,598 1,303

Male 2,287 2,403 2,706 2,286

Female 1,708 1,865 2,105 1,829

Domestic 2,296 2,220 2,275 2,277

International 1,699 2,048 2,536 1,838

China 1,111 1,398 1,684 1,275
USA 99 86 101 103
Malaysia 68 46 70 67
Singapore 53 62 68 63
Germany 45 43 30 25
Thailand 34 26 28 35
Japan 33 24 57 36
Rest of the World 256 363 498 234

Non-assessed programmes 
- Community Education 658 1,307 889 1,848

Equivalent Full-time Students (EFTS) 3,094 3,396 3,649 3,382

Qualification Completions �00� �00� �00� �00�
Total Completions 1,151 1,048 1,067 1,137 

Postgraduate 254 217 200 202 

Undergraduate 682 614 582 538 

Sub-degree 169 128 48 44 

Entry Level (Does not include English  
   Language qualifications.) 46 89 237 353 

Note: Figures for 2005 differ from those published in the Annual Report for that year, to reflect updated data.
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Research Activity �00� �00� �00� �00�
Total Publications ^ 905 1,138 1,053 886

Premium publications 376 459 502 376

Community engagement publications 285 367 271 297

Other publications 244 312 280 213

^ 2006 figures are provisional and subject to change.  2005 figures are final publication counts and  
differ from the provisional figures in the Annual Report 2005.

Research Degree Completions �00� �00� �00� �00�
Research Degree Completions 85 68 26 40

External Research Income $13.077m $13.087m $11.995m $8.914m

Staffing �00� �00� �00� �00�
All Staff

Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff 618 613 613 596

Head count (December) 750 723 726 708

Academic Staff

Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff 221 217 222 221

Head count (December) 262 245 274 252

Research and Technical Staff

Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff 100 103 99 90

Head count (December) 109 103 103 97

Administrative and Support Staff

Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff 297 293 291 285

Head count (December) 379 375 349 359

Financial Performance and Position �00� �00� �00� �00�

$000 $000 $000 $000
Total Revenue 82,835 82,851 82,455 71,991

Total Expenditure 81,752 79,009 77,061 69,858

Net Surplus 1,083 3,842 5,394 2,133

Total Assets 211,790 177,264 174,112 113,299

Total Liabilities 26,461 20,673 21,545 21,299

Equity / Net Assets 185,329 156,591 152,567 92,000
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